










Morgan County Government    231 Ensign St    PO Box 596    Fort Morgan, CO  80701 
Telephone  (970) 542-3526    nhay@co.morgan.co.us 

  
MORGAN COUNTY 

PLANNING AND BUILDING DEPARTMENT 
 

MORGAN COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
FILE SUMMARY 
January 11, 2024  

Hearing date – January 23, 2024 
 

APPLICANTS: Taelor Solar 1, LLC 
OWNERS: L&R Rumsey Land, LLC and Magnum Feedyard, LLC  

 
These applications are for Special Use Permits for the activities described below.  The applicants are 
requesting two special use permits:  one for the solar collector facility and one for the battery energy storage 
system (BESS).  The Board of County Commissioners will conduct one public hearing for two applications, 
but each application will require separate action by motion.   
 
Taelor Solar 1 Energy Collector Facility has a maximum power output of 250 MWac. The permitted area 
is located in part of Sections 4 thru 9, 17, 18, 20, and 21, Township 2 North, Range 60 West and a part of 
Section 31, Township 3 North, Range 60 West of the 6th PM, Morgan County, Colorado.  The permitted 
area is zoned Agriculture Production and is located in the Wiggins Fire District. 
 
The applicant, Taelor Solar 1, LLC, proposes a solar collector facility within a 4,410-acre project area.  The 
facility will consist of photovoltaic (PV) panels, inverters and associated transformers, underground electric 
collection lines and/or above ground cabling, access roads, a project substation, security fencing, and an 
operations and maintenance building. The applicant has also requested waivers of the setback requirements 
for several interior property lines and several rights-of-way along section lines.  
 
Taelor Solar 1 Battery Energy Storage System (BESS) has a capacity of up to 500 MWhrs (a maximum 
power output of 125 MWac). The permitted area is located in part of Sections 8 and 9, Township 2 North, 
Range 60 West of the 6th PM, Morgan County, Colorado.  The permitted area is zoned Agriculture 
Production and is located in the Wiggins Fire District. 
 
The applicant, Taelor Solar 1, LLC, proposes a BESS within a 10 acre project area.  Geotechnical 
investigation will determine foundation and compaction requirements. Bess equipment could have pre-cast 
concrete bases or concrete could be delivered to the site. Vegetation within the BESS site will be removed 
and weed management plans will be prepared prior to the start of construction and following construction. 
The perimeter will be surrounded by security fence. The applicant has also requested a waiver of the setback 
requirements for a right-of-way along a section line. 
 
In addition to the permit applications, packets include responses from FEMA, CDOT, Town of Wiggins, 
Xcel Energy, and CPW. The packets also include emails, letters, petitions, and additional information from 
the public.  
 



Morgan County Government    231 Ensign St    PO Box 596    Fort Morgan, CO  80701 
Telephone  (970) 542-3526    nhay@co.morgan.co.us 

The projects are proposing to interconnect at a new switching station along Xcel Energy’s Fort Lupton to 
Pawnee 230KV transmission line, which runs through the project area. A crossing agreement will also be 
obtained to accommodate the projects electrical lines crossing Xcel Energy’s transmission line. 
 
A designated floodplain is identified on the western part of the site along Rock Creek. A hydrology study 
for the area was completed in order to avoid the FEMA designated floodplain and any other potential areas 
of concern. Matt Harris with Harris Engineering Consultants, Inc., the County’s consulting engineer, did 
not have any major comments after review of the preliminary engineering reports with drainage plans. One 
note he did have was some substantial differences between the area inundated during the 100-Yr 24-hour 
event and the regulatory Zone A floodplain. The calculated 100 year storm depths and the FEMA Zone A 
floodplain are both overlaid on the original Site Plan Map for clarity.  
 
Planning Commission Meeting 
 
A Planning Commission hearing was held on August 14, 2023, where the Commissioners heard from the 
Applicant’s representative and the public.  The public hearing was continued until September 11, 2023 in 
order for Taelor Solar 1, LLC to submit the following additional information:  
 

1. A glare report 
2. Reseeding vegetation component to the Erosion Control Plan 
3. Aerial photographs of similar projects 

 
The continued public hearing was held on September 11, 2023, where the Commissioners reopened public 
comment regarding the additional information supplied by the applicant.  
 
The Planning Commission motioned for recommended conditional approval as presented and to include 
the following recommended conditions: 

 
(1)  Removal of modules and inverters from the 320 acres (the S½ of Section 31, T3N, R60W)  
(2)  The paving of Co Rd M.  

 
The motion was denied on a vote of 4 opposed and 3 in favor.  As result, the Planning Commission’s 
recommendation to the Board of County Commissioners was to deny the applications.  
 
After the Planning Commission hearing, the Applicant requested an extension of the timing of the Board 
of County Commissioners hearing to address community questions and concerns. 
 
Since the Planning Commission meeting, the applicant held an open house on October 24, 2023 to address 
concerns and provide additional information to the public. The application has been modified as follows: 
 

1. Removal of solar panels and inverters from certain areas (including the 320 acres mentioned in 
the Planning Commission meeting) to improve setbacks and viewshed impacts.  
 

2. Change to the haul route to use State Highway 52 to Co Rd 3 to Co Rd I for the primary route 
for construction traffic and deliveries. A secondary/light duty access using Co Rd 1 from State 
Highway 52 would also be used to better distribute traffic during peak hours.  

 
3. The applicant has also submitted visual simulations, a revegetation plan supplement, and 

project economic impacts. 
 
In reviewing these applications, the Planning Commission and Board of County Commissioners are 
required to make a finding that the criteria for granting a Use by Special Review in Section 2-395 of the 



Morgan County Government    231 Ensign St    PO Box 596    Fort Morgan, CO  80701 
Telephone  (970) 542-3526    nhay@co.morgan.co.us 

Morgan County Zoning Regulations have been satisfied. In addition, the County shall consider whether the 
application for a solar collector facility complies with the requirements of the Solar Collector Regulations 
and the BESS complies with the requirements of the BESS Regulations in Zoning Regulations. 
 
 
Section 2-395 Special Use Permit Criteria: 
 
A. The use and its location as proposed are in conformance with the Morgan County 
 Comprehensive Plan. The property is located in the southwest planning area.  

 
Chapter 2 – Plan Summary 
2.II.A  - Economic Development 
Goal – Diversify the economy in Morgan County to broaden business employment 
 opportunities for residents and to further economic growth.  

Both projects would provide economic benefit to Morgan County through increased 
revenues to the county and school district tax bases through the taxation of the projects. 
To the extent possible the operator will seek to hire local contractors throughout 
construction and the life of the project. 

 
Chapter 4 – Economic Development 
Goal – Encourage the location of new industry and the expansion of existing businesses that will 

provide employment opportunities and increase the tax base to strengthen the economy of 
Morgan County. 

Policy 10. Contribute to the Colorado New Energy Economy; work to attract and maintain 
renewable energy projects to capture this. 

 
Chapter 5 - Environment 
IX-Environmental Resources and Hazards Plan 

 Goal - To preserve the manmade and natural environment in order to enhance the quality of life 
in Morgan County. 
Both projects will not impact wetlands or drainage patterns. Rock Creek and its 
surrounding floodplain will be avoided by the site layout. A desktop review and field 
assessment has been completed for the site to avoid adverse impacts on plant and wildlife 
species. These projects will encourage use of renewable resources and production of 
electric power. 

 
B. The application documents are complete and present a clear picture of how the use is to be arranged 

on the site. 
 
C. The Site Plan conforms to the district design standards of Section 2-420 and Section 4-820 of the 

Morgan County Zoning Regulations.  
 

D. All on and off-site impacts have been satisfactorily mitigated either through agreement, public 
improvement, site plan requirements or other mitigation measures.  
Both projects will result in long-term minimal impacts to off-site areas. Once construction is 
completed, traffic will be minimal and the glare report indicates no glare will impact neighboring 
properties. During construction and when necessary, either water or dust control chemicals will 
be used for dust mitigation and will be addressed in the Road Agreement. Best management 
practices (BMP) will be implemented to protect newly established vegetation for Storm Water 
Management and Erosion Control. 

 



Morgan County Government    231 Ensign St    PO Box 596    Fort Morgan, CO  80701 
Telephone  (970) 542-3526    nhay@co.morgan.co.us 

E. The special use proposed has been made compatible with the surrounding uses and is adequately 
buffered from any incompatible uses by distance and topography. 
Residences are more than the County’s 500-foot setback requirement The majority of the parcels 
adjacent to the facility are zoned Agricultural Production District and are vacant, except the 
Magnum Feedyard. 

 
F. The special use poses no or minimal risk to the public health, safety and welfare. 

Granting the Special Use Permits will not increase risk to public health, safety or welfare. 
 
G. The special use proposed is not planned on a nonconforming parcel. 

Both projects are located on conforming parcels. 
 

H. The applicant has adequately documented a public need for the project. The Applicant has 
submitted all pertinent technical information, has demonstrated that it has adequate financial 
resources to implement the project, and has paid all County fees and review costs. 
The general purpose of both projects is to maximize energy production from available solar 
resources to deliver renewable electricity to the bulk power transmission system to serve the needs 
of electric utilities and their customers. 

 
I. For any special use requiring a supply of water that the applicant has demonstrated a source of 

water which is adequate for the proposed use in terms of quantity and reliability and in the case of 
human consumption, quantity, quality, and reliability. 
Both projects are expected to require a supply of water both during construction and operation 
phases. Water for the Taelor Project will be sourced from the Magnum Feedyard, LLC Ranch. 

 
The following conditions are recommended for the special use permits: 
 

1. Taelor Solar 1 Collector Facility: 
 
a. Proof of lease between Taelor Solar 1, LLC and the property owners must be submitted to the 

Planning & Zoning Department prior to construction. 
 

b. All necessary land use, environmental, and construction permits, approvals and authorizations 
will be obtained prior to the start of and during construction as required and may include, but 
are not limited to, land use permits, right-of-way (ROW) permits, road use agreements, access 
permits, oversize/overweight permits, grading permits, and stormwater permits. 

 
c. All necessary plans, reports, permits, and certificates will be submitted prior to issuance of any  

building permit associated with the solar collector facility and may include, but are not limited 
to, interconnection/crossing agreements, final drainage & erosion control plan, signed and 
sealed geotechnical report, decommissioning plan, operations and maintenance plan, Liability 
Insurance Certificate, final locations for any laydown yard, a copy of the APEN issued by the 
Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment, Unanticipated Discovery plan, and 
glare analysis. 

 
d. Taelor Solar 1, LLC will comply with proposed decommissioning plan, any 

modifications/deviations from the proposed plan must be approved by the County.   The County 
must be notified in writing when the Applicant commences decommissioning.  

 
e. Any building greater than 120 sq. ft. will require a building permit. 
 



Morgan County Government    231 Ensign St    PO Box 596    Fort Morgan, CO  80701 
Telephone  (970) 542-3526    nhay@co.morgan.co.us 

f. The substation and solar collector facility shall be enclosed by a security fence and be secured 
at all times. Emergency services must have access at all times. 

 
g. Prior the commencement of construction, Taelor Solar 1, LLC will enter into a road use 

agreement for the use of any public road during construction. The agreement shall include the 
following: 

 
i. A designated haul route or routes, subject to approval by the Morgan County Road & 

Bridge Department.  A map showing the designated haul route to be used during 
construction. 

 
ii. A pre-construction baseline inventory of County roads on the designated haul route or 

routes to be used during construction to document their pre-construction condition, 
obtained by and paid for by the applicant.  

 
iii. A mitigation plan to address traffic congestion, control, and potential impacts to County 

roads on the designated haul route.  The mitigation plan shall also include any dust 
mitigation activities.  

 
iv. A requirement that the applicant is to return any County roads to their pre-construction 

baseline condition. 
 

v. A requirement to post financial security in an amount not less than one hundred fifteen 
percent (115%) of the estimated cost to complete all road restoration, in the form of an 
irrevocable letter of credit or cash escrow.  Cost estimates shall be provided by a licensed 
Colorado engineer.   Upon preliminary acceptance of the restored public road, the County 
shall release all but fifteen percent (15%) of total actual costs of restoration of the public 
roads, so long as Taelor Solar 1, LLC are not in default of any provision of the public 
improvements agreement.  The County shall inspect the restored roads and Taelor Solar 
1, LLC shall pay to the County the cost incurred by the County in conducting such 
inspections.  These costs shall be due and payable upon demand of the County. Taelor 
Solar 1, LLC shall be responsible for correcting or properly completing the restoration. 

 
vi. The residual fifteen percent (15%) retained by the County shall act as security for Taelor 

Solar 1, LLC’s guarantee that the restoration remains free of defect during a two-year 
warranty period. Taelor Solar 1, LLC may at any time during the preliminary acceptance 
or warranty period offer to provide a substitute or supplemental form of financial security 
to that security as originally posted with and/or retained by the County. The County may 
accept substitute or supplemental forms of security in its sole discretion. 

 
h. Prior to the commencement of construction, Taelor Solar 1, LLC must obtain all proper 

permissions from landowners to use private roads or develop access roads on any private 
property.   No private access roads, new or currently in use, shall become public rights of way 
unless approved and accepted by the Board of County Commissioners.  
 

i. The County will require written notice for all staging or laydown areas, or other temporary 
areas for construction or repair activities (“Temporary Areas”) utilized after final construction 
is completed.  Taelor Solar 1, LLC must provide a map showing the Temporary Area by size 
(acreage and perimeter), a list of materials and equipment to be stored on the Temporary Areas, 
activities within the area (e.g., grading, storage, etc.), the length of time the temporary 
construction or staging or laydown areas will be in use and must notify the County at least 
thirty (30) days prior to the use of the temporary area.  It shall be a condition that all equipment 



Morgan County Government    231 Ensign St    PO Box 596    Fort Morgan, CO  80701 
Telephone  (970) 542-3526    nhay@co.morgan.co.us 

and materials must be removed from the Temporary Areas and the area returned to a condition 
similar to its condition prior to construction.  No permanent structures may remain in the 
Temporary Areas unless approved by the County pursuant to the applicable Morgan County 
Zoning Regulations.  

 
j. The project area shall be reclaimed and/or reseeded as soon as practicable but no later than six 

months after Taelor Solar 1, LLC has completed construction, unless the County Planning 
Administrator grants an extension for demonstrated good cause.  

 
k. Construction occurring with ¼ quarter mile of any residence shall not commence earlier than 

7 a.m. 
 
l. Taelor Solar 1, LLC shall prevent the existence of any nuisances by way of its construction 

activities.  All trash, litter, construction waste and any potentially hazardous materials shall be 
disposed of properly off-site.  If the County determines that a nuisance exists and the nuisance 
is not abated or an abatement plan is not submitted to the satisfaction of the County, the County 
may, upon thirty (30) days' notice under this Agreement, draw upon the Performance Guarantee 
to pay the cost and expenses of abating the nuisance.  The decision to draw on the Performance 
Guarantee shall be within the sole discretion of the County. 

 
m. Taelor Solar 1, LLC shall comply with all applicable law and regulations related to safety and 

emergency management during construction and on-going operations.  
 
n. Taelor Solar 1, LLC shall be responsible for the payment of all costs and fees incurred by the 

County associated with this Permit.  The County shall invoice Taelor Solar 1, LLC for costs 
and fees and payment will be due by Taelor Solar 1, LLC within thirty (30) days of the date of 
the invoice.  Failure to pay may result in enforcement actions by the County.  

 
 
 

2. Taelor Solar 1 BESS Facility: 
 
a. Proof of lease between Taelor Solar 1, LLC and the property owners must be submitted to the 

Planning & Zoning Department prior to construction. 
 

b. All necessary land use, environmental, and construction permits, approvals and authorizations 
will be obtained prior to the start of and during construction as required and may include, but 
are not limited to, land use permits, right-of-way (ROW) permits, road use agreements, access 
permits, oversize/overweight permits, grading permits, and stormwater permits. 

 
c. All necessary plans, reports, permits, and certificates will be submitted prior to issuance of any 

building permit associated with the BESS facility and may include, but are not limited to, 
Electrical Diagram, final equipment specification sheet, contact information, maintenance plan, 
final drainage plan, decommissioning plan, emergency operation plan, and Liability Insurance 
Certificate. 

 
d. Taelor Solar 1, LLC will comply with proposed decommissioning plan, any 

modifications/deviations from the proposed plan must be approved by the County.   The County 
must be notified in writing when the Applicant commences decommissioning.  

 
e. Any building greater than 120 sq. ft. will require a building permit. 
 



Morgan County Government    231 Ensign St    PO Box 596    Fort Morgan, CO  80701 
Telephone  (970) 542-3526    nhay@co.morgan.co.us 

f. The BESS shall be enclosed by a security fence and be secured at all times. Emergency services 
must have access at all times. 
 

g. Prior to the commencement of construction, Taelor Solar 1, LLC must obtain all proper 
permissions from landowners to use private roads or develop access roads on any private 
property.   No private access roads, new or currently in use, shall become public rights of way 
unless approved and accepted by the Board of County Commissioners.  The County may 
require that the road use agreement for the solar collector facility govern any road impacts 
related to the construction of the BESS or require a separate road use agreement. 
 

h. The County will require written notice for all staging or laydown areas, or other temporary 
areas for construction or repair activities (“Temporary Areas”) utilized after final construction 
is completed.  Taelor Solar 1, LLC must provide a map showing the Temporary Area by size 
(acreage and perimeter), a list of materials and equipment to be stored on the Temporary Areas, 
activities within the area (e.g., grading, storage, etc.), the length of time the temporary 
construction or staging or laydown areas will be in use and must notify the County at least 
thirty (30) days prior to the use of the temporary area.  It shall be a condition that all equipment 
and materials must be removed from the Temporary Areas and the area returned to a condition 
similar to its condition prior to construction.  No permanent structures may remain in the 
Temporary Areas unless approved by the County pursuant to the applicable Morgan County 
Zoning Regulations.  

 
i. The project area shall be reclaimed and/or reseeded as soon as practicable but no later than six 

months after Taelor Solar 1, LLC has completed construction, unless the County Planning 
Administrator grants an extension for demonstrated good cause.  

 
j. Construction occurring with ¼ quarter mile of any residence shall not commence earlier than 

7 a.m. 
 
k. Taelor Solar 1, LLC shall prevent the existence of any nuisances by way of its construction 

activities.  All trash, litter, construction waste and any potentially hazardous materials shall be 
disposed of properly off-site.  If the County determines that a nuisance exists and the nuisance 
is not abated or an abatement plan is not submitted to the satisfaction of the County, the County 
may, upon thirty (30) days' notice under this Agreement, draw upon the Performance Guarantee 
to pay the cost and expenses of abating the nuisance.  The decision to draw on the Performance 
Guarantee shall be within the sole discretion of the County. 

 
l. Taelor Solar 1, LLC shall comply with all applicable law and regulations related to safety and 

emergency management during construction and on-going operations.  
 
m. Taelor Solar 1, LLC shall be responsible for the payment of all costs and fees incurred by the 

County associated with this Permit.  The County shall invoice Taelor Solar 1, LLC for costs 
and fees and payment will be due by Taelor Solar 1, LLC within thirty (30) days of the date of 
the invoice.  Failure to pay may result in enforcement actions by the County.  

 
 
As per Sections 4-845 and 4-880 of the Morgan County Zoning Regulations, Taelor Solar 1, LLC is also 
requesting approval of the three year renewals for the Taelor Solar 1 Energy Collector Facility and the 
Taelor Solar 1 Battery Energy Storage System (BESS). The extension to a total of 6 years is being requested 
to accommodate the long lead time required to move through the interconnection processes and complete 
construction on a utility-scale project.  
 



Morgan County Government    231 Ensign St    PO Box 596    Fort Morgan, CO  80701 
Telephone  (970) 542-3526    nhay@co.morgan.co.us 

 
Nicole Hay, 
Morgan County Planning Administrator  



























X
TL

X
X

TL
X

X
TL

X
X

TL
X

X
TL

X
X

TL
X

X
TL

X
X

TL
X

X
TL

X
X

TL
X

X
TL

X
X

TL
X

X
TL

X
X

X X TL X X TL X X TL X X TL X X TL X X TL X X TL X X TL X X TL X X TL X X TL X X TL X X TL X X TL X X TL X X TL X X TL X X TL X X

LAYDOWN
YARD

SWITCHYARD

O&M AREA

SUB

BESS YARD

SITE ACCESS:
COUNTY ROAD M

TRANSMISSION LINE
70' SETBACK

ROAD
70' SETBACK

SITE ACCESS:
COUNTY ROAD M

EXTERNAL PARCEL
70' SETBACK

RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS
MINIMUM 500' SETBACK

PANEL AND INVERTER FREE AREA*
~320 ACRES

COUNTY ROAD 3

CR-I

PANEL AND
INVERTER FREE
AREA*
~120 ACRES

SITE ACCESS:
CONSTRUCTED ROAD
OFF COUNTY ROAD-I

310 E 100 S, Moab, UT 84532

C
O

N
FI

D
EN

TI
A
L

TH
IS

 M
A
TE

R
IA

L 
IS

 T
H

E 
PR

O
PE

R
TY

 O
F

B
A
LA

N
C
ED

 R
O

C
K
 P

O
W

ER
 A

N
D

 C
O

N
TA

IN
S

C
O

N
FI

D
EN

TI
A
L 

IN
FO

R
M

A
TI

O
N

 W
H

IC
H

M
U

S
T 

N
O

T 
B
E 

D
U

PL
IC

A
TE

D
, 

U
S
ED

, 
O

R
D

IS
C
LO

S
ED

 O
TH

ER
 T

H
A
N

 A
S
 E

X
PR

ES
S
LY

A
U

TH
O

R
IZ

ED
 B

Y 
B
A
LA

N
C
ED

 R
O

C
K
 P

O
W

ER
.

PREL
IM

IN
ARY

NOT 
FO

R

CO
NST

RU
CT

IO
N

PROJECT:

SHEET TITLE:

TAELOR SOLAR
MORGAN COUNTY, COLORADO

PERMITTING LAYOUT

PREPARED FOR:

PREPARED BY: CHECKED BY:

MORGAN COUNTY

ET LN

LEGEND:

PROPERTY OWNER

SIGNATURE BLOCK

PARTY SIGNATURE

SHEET #:REVISION:DATE:

E-101R212/8/2023

PROJECT PHASE: PROPOSAL
DIVISION: ENGINEERING PAPER SIZE: ANSI D (22 X 34)

PROJECT LOCATION:

PROJECT SUMMARY:STANDARD TRACKER STRUCTURE

Array Summary
PROJECT SIZE (MW DC): 300
PROJECT SIZE (MW AC): 250

DESIGN CRITERIA
WIND SPEED (MPH) 93.00
CORROSION LEVEL C2
SNOW LOAD (lbs/sqft) 30

MODULE OVERVIEW
MODULE MANUFACTURER: Jinko

MODULE SPEC: JKM570N-72HL4-TV-US
MODULE WATTAGE (w): 570
MODULE QUANTITY: 526,338
MODLUES / STRING: 27

INVERTER OVERVIEW
PCU MODEL: SUNGROW 4400
PCU QUANTITY: 64

RACKING OVERVIEW
RACKING MANUFACTURER NEXTRACKER
TRACKER PITCH (ft): 23.294
GCR: 31.8%
MAX HEIGHT ABOVE GROUND
(ft/m): 9.84 / 3

PROJECT LOCATION
LAT/LONG: 40.145, -104.127

Feet
0 1320 2640

SCALE: 1" = 14 MILE

COUNTY BOARD

CLERK TO THE COUNTY BOARD

FENCELINE

OFFSETS

X TL X X TL X TRANSMISSION LINES

ROADS

WETLANDS

SECTION LINES

BUILDINGS

GENERAL NOTES:
*IN THE PANEL AND INVERTER FREE AREA, BALANCED ROCK
POWER RETAINS THE FOOTPRINT FOR INTERNAL ROADS
AND MV COLLECTION

FEMA ZONE A (100-YEAR)

INTERNAL ROADS

AutoCAD SHX Text
500 MM

AutoCAD SHX Text
3089 MM

AutoCAD SHX Text
1989 MM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2244 MM

AutoCAD SHX Text
4164 MM

AutoCAD SHX Text
60°

AutoCAD SHX Text
4212 MM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2031 MM







Nicole Hay <nhay@co.morgan.co.us>

Taelor Solar Haul Route

Bruce Bass <bbass@co.morgan.co.us> Wed, Jan 10, 2024 at 4:05 PM
To: Nicole Hay <nhay@co.morgan.co.us>
Cc: John Goodman <jgoodman@co.morgan.co.us>

Nicole

John Goodman and I agree we have no issue with the haul routes outline in the updated memo from Taelor Solar
utilizing State Highway 52 and 
County Roads 1, 3, and I to the access location of the project on County Road I, contingent upon an approved road
use agreement for the County Road Segments.

Thanks

Bruce Bass
Public Works Director
Morgan County Government
970-542-3560

[Quoted text hidden]

Co.morgan.co.us Mail - Taelor Solar Haul Route https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=783612d243&view=pt&search=a...

1 of 1 1/10/2024, 4:07 PM























































































































































































Morgan County
231 Ensign, Fort Morgan, CO 80701

(970) 542-3526

SU2023-0012 | Special Use Permit

RECEIPT

Assessed Fee Items

Fee items being paid by this payment

Assessed 
On Fee Item Account Code Assessed Amount Paid Balance Due

05/16/23 Special Use - Manual $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $0.00

Totals: $5,000.00 $5,000.00

Previous Payments
Remaining Balance Due

$0.00
$0.00

Application Info

Property Address
Multiple Parcels
Wiggins, CO 80654

Property Owner Property Owner Address Valuation

Description of Work

Multiple Owners

Application for a special use permit for the new Taelor solar collector facility, located south of Wiggins. The project would 
generate 250 MW of photovoltaic solar energy.

Payment Amount: $5,000.00

Receipt Number: 543901

May 8, 2023

Transaction Method Payer Cashier Reference Number
Check Balanced Rock Power LLC 1308Jenafer Santos

Comments

















































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































Morgan County
231 Ensign, Fort Morgan, CO 80701

(970) 542-3526

SU2023-0013 | Special Use Permit

RECEIPT

Assessed Fee Items

Fee items being paid by this payment

Assessed 
On Fee Item Account Code Assessed Amount Paid Balance Due

05/16/23 Special Use - Manual $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $0.00

Totals: $5,000.00 $5,000.00

Previous Payments
Remaining Balance Due

$0.00
$0.00

Application Info

Property Address
Multiple Parcels
Wiggins, CO 80654

Property Owner Property Owner Address Valuation

Description of Work

L&R Rumsey Land LLC 1131 County Road 1
Wiggins, CO 80654

Application for a special use permit for the new Taelor battery energy storage facility, located south of Wiggins. The project 
would have a storage capacity of up to 500 MWh, and cover 10 acres.

Payment Amount: $5,000.00

Receipt Number: 543902

May 8, 2023

Transaction Method Payer Cashier Reference Number
Check Balanced Rock Power LLC 1309Jenafer Santos

Comments



















































































































































































































 

 

 

 

 

  

PRELIMINARY HYDROLOGY STUDY 

Project Name  
County, State 

DATE 

PREPARED FOR: 

 

PREPARED BY: 

 

PRELIMINARY HYDROLOGY STUDY 

Taelor Solar Project 
Weld and Morgan Counties, Colorado  
FEBRUARY 8, 2022 



 

 

 

Preliminary 
Hydrology 
Study  

 

Taelor Solar Project 

Weld and Morgan Counties, Colorado 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared For: 

Balanced Rock Power 

310 E 100 S 

Moab, UT 84532 

 

 

Prepared By: 

Westwood 

12701 Whitewater Drive, Suite 300 

Minnetonka, MN 55343 

(952) 937-5150 

  

Project Number: R0034723.00 

Date: February 8, 2022  

 



Preliminary Hydrology Study | Taelor Solar Project  February 8, 2022 

i  |  Confidential and Proprietary. TBPLS Firm #10074302 

Table of Contents 

Executive Summary ................................................................................................ 1 

1.0 Data Sources ................................................................................................. 2 

2.0 Coordinate System ........................................................................................ 2 

3.0 Existing Conditions ...................................................................................... 3 

3.1 Project Location .............................................................................................................................. 3 

3.2 Watershed Hydrology .................................................................................................................... 3 

3.3 Onsite Conditions ........................................................................................................................... 3 

3.4 FEMA Flood Zones ......................................................................................................................... 4 

4.0 Proposed Conditions .................................................................................... 4 

4.1 Proposed Conditions ...................................................................................................................... 4 

4.2 Post-Construction Stormwater Management............................................................................... 5 

5.0 FLO-2D Modeling .......................................................................................... 5 

5.1 FLO-2D Modeling Overview .......................................................................................................... 5 

5.2 Elevation Data ................................................................................................................................ 5 

5.3 Watershed Soils and Land Cover .................................................................................................. 5 

5.4 Precipitation ................................................................................................................................... 6 

5.5 Inflows ............................................................................................................................................. 6 

6.0 Flood Analysis Results .................................................................................. 6 

6.1 Existing Conditions Flood Analysis .............................................................................................. 6 

6.2 Scour ................................................................................................................................................ 8 

7.0 Recommendations ........................................................................................ 8 

8.0 Next Steps ..................................................................................................... 9 

9.0 Included Output Files .................................................................................. 10 

10.0 References Cited ...................................................................................... 11 

 

  



Preliminary Hydrology Study | Taelor Solar Project  February 8, 2022 

 ii  |  Confidential and Proprietary. TBPLS Firm #10074302 

 

Tables 
Table 1 – Data Sources ............................................................................................................................ 2 

Table 2 – Coordinate System Used .......................................................................................................... 2 

Table 3 – Inflow Rates ............................................................................................................................. 6 

Table 4 – Flood Depths Onsite ................................................................................................................. 7 

 
 

Exhibits 
Exhibit 1: Location Map 

Exhibit 2: Base Hydrologic Map 

Exhibit 3: USGS, FEMA, and NWI Wetlands Map 

Exhibit 4: Soils Map 

Exhibit 5: Landcover Map 

Exhibit 6: Curve Number and Topographic Source Map 

Exhibit 7: 100-Year Max Flood Depth Map 

Exhibit 7a: 100-Year Max Flood Depth Project Area Map 

Exhibit 8: 100-Year Peak Velocity Map 

Exhibit 8a: 100-Year Peak Velocity Project Area Map 

Exhibit 9: 100-Year Scour Map 

Exhibit 10: 50-Year Max Flood Depth Map 

Exhibit 10a: 50-Year Max Flood Depth Project Area Map 

Exhibit 11: 50-Year Peak Velocity Map 

Exhibit 11a: 50-Year Peak Velocity Project Area Map 

Exhibit 12: 50-Year Scour Map 

 

 

Appendices 

Appendix A:  NOAA Atlas 14 Precipitation Data 

Appendix B:  Curve Number Table 

Appendix C:  FEMA Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) 

Appendix D:  USGS StreamStats Reports 

 

 



Preliminary Hydrology Study | Taelor Solar Project  February 8, 2022 

1  |  Confidential and Proprietary. TBPLS Firm #10074302 

Executive Summary 
The purpose of this study is to analyze and review the existing hydrology of Phases 1 and 

2 of the Taelor Solar Project (Project or Site) and any impacts that the hydrology may 

play in the design of the proposed solar array. This report was prepared to be used by 

the Project Team in the design and layout of the Project and not intended for submittal 

to reviewing agencies for stormwater permitting.  

The Project Site is proposed on approximately 17 square miles and is located within 

Weld and Morgan Counties, Colorado, approximately 2.75 miles southwest of the city of 

Wiggins in Morgan County, Colorado. The Site is located on rough and varying land that 

generally slopes inwards towards the onsite reaches. The modeled watershed area 

encompasses approximately 94 square miles and generally drains northeast.   

The analysis of the 100-year, 24-hour storm shows low water depths and velocities 

(Exhibits 7 through 8A) across the majority of the Site, outside of the onsite reaches and 

creeks. Higher flood depths and velocities exist within these creeks and their 

surrounding area. The floodplains onsite are fairly large; however, the flooding is 

generally well-contained within the floodplain limits. There are also scattered low-lying 

areas with localized ponding across the Project Site. Minimal velocities and scour are 

expected on site, outside of the onsite reaches and floodplains, due to the rough terrain 

and lack of consistent steep slopes. 

The analysis of the 50-year, 24-hour storm event yielded similar results to those of the 

100-year, 24-hour storm, but with slightly less severe depths, velocities, and scour 

(Exhibits 10-12).  

Based on experience with similar projects, the majority of the Site is suitable for the 

planned development; however there are portions of the site which will be unusable for 

solar development, based on the presences of hazardous flows and velocities. 

  



Preliminary Hydrology Study | Taelor Solar Project  February 8, 2022 

 2  |  Confidential and Proprietary. TBPLS Firm #10074302 

 

 

1.0 Data Sources 
Table 1 – Data Sources 

Task Format Source Use 

Elevation 2ft LiDAR The National Map 
FLO-2D Model 

Elevations 

Crop Data Shapefile 
USDA 2013 Crop 

Data Layer 
Landcover 

Soils Shapefile 
USGS SSURGO 

Dataset 
Curve Numbers 

Precipitation PDF File NOAA Atlas 14 Design Storms 

HUC-12 Drainage 

Boundary 
Shapefile USGS Define Model Extents 

Site Boundary Taelor Solar - Max Footprint2.shp 
Balanced Rock 

Power 
Define Model Extents 

2014 Aerial 

Photography 
ArcGIS Map Service USDA FSA Reference 

FEMA Flood Zones PDF; Shapefile FEMA Reference 

Culvert Locating 

and Sizing 
Aerial Imagery Google Earth Culvert Modeling 

Peak Flowrates PDF  USGS StreamStats Inflow Hydrographs 

2.0 Coordinate System 
Table 2 – Coordinate System Used 

Projection State Plane Coordinate System 

Zone Colorado North (FIPS 501) 

Datum NAD83 

Planar Units Feet (U.S. Survey) 

 

  



Preliminary Hydrology Study | Taelor Solar Project  February 8, 2022 

 3  |  Confidential and Proprietary. TBPLS Firm #10074302 

 

3.0 Existing Conditions 
3.1 Project Location 

The Project Site, Phases 1 and 2 of the Taelor Solar Project, covers approximately 

17 square miles and is located within Weld and Morgan Counties, Colorado 

(Exhibit 1). The Project Site is located approximately 50 miles northeast of Denver, 

with the nearest town being Wiggins in Morgan County, Colorado. Wiggins is 

located 2.75 miles northeast of the Project Area (Exhibit 1).  

3.2 Watershed Hydrology  

The modeled watershed area encompasses approximately 94 square miles that 

generally discharges to the northeast.  The watershed is primarily defined by Kiowa 

Creek, which originates south of the Project, entering the Project through its 

southwest corner and flowing northeast through its limits. Kiowa Creek is defined 

by a fairly wide floodplain, which can range from 2,000 ft to over a mile in width.   

Jack Rabbit Creek flows into Kiowa Creek just within the southwest limits of the 

Site, also originating from the south, but just west of Kiowa Creek.   

Rock Creek enters the watershed from the south, approximately 5 miles east of 

Kiowa Creek, and then flows north through the eastern portion of the Site.  Rock 

Creek then flows into Kiowa Creek within the northeastern corner of the Project.   

An additional unnamed tributary of Kiowa Creek enters the watershed from the 

southeast.  The tributary flows north-northwest just east of the project, before 

flowing into Kiowa Creek roughly 2,500 ft downstream of its junction with Rock 

Creek, just off the eastern limits of the Site.   

See Exhibits 2 and 3 for geospatial displays of the watershed and its features. 

3.3 Onsite Conditions 

The Project is located on varying landscape, defined by several reaches as well as 

distributed patches of rougher terrain.  The northwestern portion of the site 

generally is rougher, containing rolling slopes of 1% to 4%, with rougher 

distributions of a sort of prairie-pothole landscape, defined by many pockets of 

low-lying depressions. This area minimally discharges; however, there is a subtle 

drainage pattern towards Kiowa Creek to the southeast. 

The majority of the stretch of land extended from the southwestern corner to the 

northeastern corner of the Site is defined by the channel and floodplain of Kiowa 

Creek.  The floodplain is generally flatter, with more consistent slopes generally 

less than 0.5%.  The southeastern banks are generally made up of rolling terrain 

with slopes generally between 1% to 4%, whereas the northwestern banks are more 



Preliminary Hydrology Study | Taelor Solar Project  February 8, 2022 

 4  |  Confidential and Proprietary. TBPLS Firm #10074302 

 

comprised of the rough, prairie-pothole landscape.  Kiowa Creek discharges offsite 

to the northeast. 

The eastern portion of the project is generally covered by the channel and 

floodplain of Rock Creek, as it flows north and merges with Kiowa Creek.  The 

banks are generally made up of the rolling landscape; however, there are small 

instances of isolated rough prairie-pothole patches. The majority of the runoff from 

this portion of the site discharges offsite to the northeast via Kiowa Creek. 

US Fish and Wildlife Service National Wetlands Inventory (NWI Wetlands) 

provides information on the distribution of US wetlands and are shown in Exhibit 

3. The NWI Wetlands dataset is not all-inclusive and other wetlands not shown 

may exist. The landcover on the Project area is primarily pastureland and 

agricultural row crops (Exhibit 6) and has soils that are primarily belonging to 

Hydrologic Soil Group (HSG) A (Exhibit 5). Typically, A soils are sands.  

The main potential hydrologic issues on Site are riverine flooding and erosive 

velocities, although isolated pockets of ponding should also be considered. 

3.4 FEMA Flood Zones 

FEMA has completed a study to determine flood hazards for the selected location; 

the project area is covered by FIRM panels 08087C0575D, 08123C2035E, 

08123C2050E, and 08087C0555D (Appendix C). FIRM panels 08123C2035E and 

08123C2050E are within Weld County and have not yet been printed; however, 

electronic flood zones have been delineated for portions of these panels. The 

Project contains areas of FEMA Zone A flood hazards (Exhibits 3, 7, and 10), 

particularly associated with Rock Creek and the portions of Kiowa Creek within 

Morgan County. A FEMA Zone A flood hazard is a 100-year flood hazard with no 

defined base flood elevation.  Preliminary FIRM panels have been issued for Weld 

County; however, they have not yet been made available or effective. 

4.0 Proposed Conditions 
4.1 Proposed Conditions 

The majority of the proposed solar facility will consist of above ground mounted 

solar modules. A climate-specific grass seed mix should be planted below the 

modules and would make up a majority of the land cover. A small amount of 

impervious surface will be added from the gravel access roads and electrical 

equipment pads. The Project should be designed to minimize grading and maintain 

existing drainage patterns. A flood analysis of pre-development and post 

development depths may need to be completed once civil design is finalized for 

permitting purposes. 



Preliminary Hydrology Study | Taelor Solar Project  February 8, 2022 

 5  |  Confidential and Proprietary. TBPLS Firm #10074302 

 

4.2 Post-Construction Stormwater Management 

A desktop review of Weld County and Morgan County Stormwater Management 

and Drainage Requirements identified the 2020 Weld County Engineering and 

Construction Criteria manual, the Morgan County Zoning Regulations, and the 

Mile High Flood District (MHFD) Criteria Manual.  As the Site design progresses, 

these manuals and documents should be referenced in order to assure that the Site 

design complies with any rate control, volume control, or water quality 

requirements that are outlined within them. 

The typical solar project’s low-impact development technique of converting the 

land cover from a row crop field to a meadow grass will provide post-construction 

stormwater management to meet most agency requirements. The proposed 

meadow grass will act as a vegetated filter providing both runoff treatment and 

reduction when compared to existing conditions. As the Project design advances, 

the post-construction stormwater management should be reviewed in further 

detail with the County Engineer. 

5.0 FLO-2D Modeling 
5.1 FLO-2D Modeling Overview 

FLO-2D is a physical process model that routes rainfall runoff and flood 

hydrographs over flow surfaces or in channels using the dynamic wave 

approximation to the momentum equation. FLO-2D offers advantages over 1-D 

models and unit hydrograph methods by allowing for breakout flows and 

visualization of flows across a potential site. The primary inputs are a DTM 

(elevation data), curve numbers, and precipitation. No culverts were included in 

the model; all roadways and berms were assumed to overtop. 

A FLO-2D model with 50-foot grid cells was utilized to model the watershed within 

and directly impacting the Project Site. 

5.2 Elevation Data 

The elevation data input into the FLO-2D model was 2ft LiDAR data from The 

National Map (Exhibit 6). This data was exported as a single digital terrain model 

(DTM), which is read directly into FLO-2D. 

5.3 Watershed Soils and Land Cover 

USDA-NRCS SSURGO soil data provides soil types within the Project boundary 

and full coverage of the contributing watershed. Soils are primarily classified as 

Hydrologic Soil Group (HSG) A within the Project boundary (Exhibit 4). Land 

cover was obtained from the USDA 2013 Crop Data Layer. Exhibit 5 displays the 

land cover classes for the entire watershed. Curve numbers were applied to each 



Preliminary Hydrology Study | Taelor Solar Project  February 8, 2022 

 6  |  Confidential and Proprietary. TBPLS Firm #10074302 

 

grid cell in the FLO-2D model based on intersecting the grid with the curve 

numbers (Exhibit 6).  

5.4 Precipitation 

Precipitation data was downloaded from NOAA Atlas 14 (Appendix A) and used for 

the FLO-2D analysis for the 100-Year and 50-Year, 24-Hour storm events. Using 

the 100-Year and 50-Year rainfall depths of 4.54 inches and 3.95 inches, 

respectively, for this location allows for the best initial analysis in order to 

determine the worst areas of flooding and erosion during multiple different storm 

events. Rainfall inputs were distributed based on a site-specific nested Atlas 14 

distribution pattern. 

5.5 Inflows 

Jack Rabbit Creek, Kiowa Creek, Rock Creek, and an Unnamed Tributary of Kiowa 

Creek all flow into the modeled watershed. USGS StreamStats provides 50-year 

and 100-year peak flow rates for these reaches (Appendix D). In order to account 

for these flows, inflow hydrographs were created at each location where these 

reaches enter the modeled watershed.  Table 3 below displays the flow rates for 

each reach and flood event. See Exhibits 7 and 10 for inflow locations. 

Table 3 – Inflow Rates 

Reach 
50-Year Peak 

Flow (cfs) 

100-Year Peak 

Flow (cfs) 

Jack Rabbit Creek 3,250 4,660 

Kiowa Creek 28,900 40,700 

Rock Creek 8,780 12,500 

Unnamed Tributary 2,750 3,940 

6.0 Flood Analysis Results 
6.1 Existing Conditions Flood Analysis 

The 100-year, 24-hour analysis shows low to moderate water depths and low 

velocities (Exhibits 7 through 8A) across the majority of the Site, outside of the 

influence of the onsite reaches. During a 100-year storm, the flood depths across 

the majority of the Project Area are less than 0.5 feet with velocities less than 1 

foot/second, with the exception of the flows within the main onsite creeks and their 

associated floodplains.  The 100-year flood depths within the onsite portions of the 

main channels of Kiowa Creek and Rock Creek can easily exceed 10ft, whereas the 

depths within the floodplains are generally between 2ft to 8ft. The area where the 

two creeks converge results in a large area of more significant flooding, due to the 

convergence of the creeks’ floodplains. Although the extents of the floodplains are 

fairly wide, the flooding within them is generally well-contained to the floodplain 



Preliminary Hydrology Study | Taelor Solar Project  February 8, 2022 

 7  |  Confidential and Proprietary. TBPLS Firm #10074302 

 

limits. The 100-year peak velocities within the channels can exceed 13 ft/second, 

whereas the velocities within the floodplain are generally between 1 ft/second and 

6 ft/second. The majority of flood depths and velocities associated with the 

unnamed tributary to the east do not directly encroach onto the Project Area itself. 

In addition to the riverine flooding, there are additional areas of isolated flooding 

within the more prairie-pothole portions of the site, particularly to the northwest.  

The 100-year flood depths within these pothole areas are generally less than 5ft, 

but have minimal velocities due to their disconnected nature. The presence of HSG 

A soils within the Project will likely help these flood depths infiltrate more quickly. 

See Table 3 below for a breakdown of 100-year flood depths within the Project Site. 

Table 4 – Flood Depths Onsite 

Peak Flow Depth (ft) 
Percentage of Project Area 

Covered by Peak Flow Depths 

0.00 - 0.49 56.5% 

0.50 - 1.00 4.5% 

1.01 - 1.50 5.6% 

1.51 - 2.00 6.4% 

2.01 - 2.50 5.9% 

2.51 - 3.00 4.6% 

3.01 - 4.00 5.9% 

4.01 - 6.00 6.6% 

6.01+ 4.0% 

 

See Exhibits 7 through 8A for areas within the Project with higher flood depths and 

velocities during the 100-year, 24-hour storm.  

Overall, the results of the 50-year, 24-hour storm model were similar to those of 

the 100-year, 24-hour storm, but with slightly lower extremes.  The exceedance of 

13 ft flood depths within the creek channels is less common during the 50-year 

storm, although it still occurs in some areas. The majority of channel depths are 

generally less than 10 ft. Similarly, the presence of floodplain depths in excess of 7ft 

is less common during the 50-year storm, with the majority of the floodplain 

depths being less than 5ft.  Within the isolated ponding locations, flood depths 

rarely exceed 4ft.  Channel velocities are generally less than 10 ft/second, with 

floodplain velocities generally between 1 ft/second and 5.5 ft/second. See Exhibits 

7 through 8A for areas within the Project with higher flood depths and velocities 

during the 50-year, 24-hour storm.  



Preliminary Hydrology Study | Taelor Solar Project  February 8, 2022 

 8  |  Confidential and Proprietary. TBPLS Firm #10074302 

 

6.2 Scour 

Minimal scour is expected onsite, outside of the main reaches and their associated 

floodplains, during both the 50-year and 100-year storms (Exhibits 9 and 12). The 

scour depths calculated for this Project are based on HEC-18 Pier Scour Equations 

of a 6-inch-wide pile perpendicular to flow. Scour calculations consist of local scour 

only with unarmored soils and pile bases to provide the conservative local scour 

results. These scour results do not account for general, rill, or gully scour.  

 

7.0 Recommendations 
Based on experience on similar projects, the majority of the Site is suitable for the 

planned development; however, portions of the site, as is seen in Table 4 as well as 

Exhibits 7-12, will be unsuitable for solar development, due to the presence of 

hazardous flows and velocities. These areas should be reviewed and considered as 

Site design progresses, for areas of avoidance, as well as any potential locations 

where infrastructure could be designed to accommodate higher flood depths. 

Additionally, local stormwater requirements and regulations should be reviewed as 

the design progresses, in order to ensure Site compliance. 

  



Preliminary Hydrology Study | Taelor Solar Project  February 8, 2022 

 9  |  Confidential and Proprietary. TBPLS Firm #10074302 

 

8.0 Next Steps 
1. Final engineering design should account for the flood depths and velocities 

presented in Exhibits 7-11A. 

2. Facilities to be elevated 1’ above the 100-year, 24-hour peak flood elevations. 

3. Proposed facilities should avoid FEMA Flood Zones located onsite. 

4. Stormwater management should be revisited to ensure the final design meets the 

local and state requirements. 

 

  



Preliminary Hydrology Study | Taelor Solar Project  February 8, 2022 

 10  |  Confidential and Proprietary. TBPLS Firm #10074302 

 

9.0 Included Output Files 
 

1. Shapefile of 100-Year Rain Event Flow Depth 

 2022-02-08_Taelor_PrelimFlowDepthatCell_100yr.shp 

 Attribute “ID” = Grid Cell Number 

 Attribute “VAR” = Max Flow Depth (Feet) 

  

2. Shapefile of 100-Year Rain Event Velocity 

 2022-02-08_Taelor_PrelimVelocityatCell_100yr.shp 

 Attribute “ID” = Grid Cell Number 

 Attribute “VAR” = Max Velocity (Feet) 

  

3. Shapefile of 50-Year Rain Event Flow Depth 

 2022-02-08_Taelor_PrelimFlowDepthatCell_50yr.shp 

 Attribute “ID” = Grid Cell Number 

 Attribute “VAR” = Max Flow Depth (Feet) 

  

4. Shapefile of 50-Year Rain Event Velocity 

 2022-02-08_Taelor_PrelimVelocityatCell_50yr.shp 

 Attribute “ID” = Grid Cell Number 

 Attribute “VAR” = Max Velocity (Feet) 

  

5. KMZ of FLO-2D Results 

 2022-02-08_Taelor_PrelimFLO-2D.kmz 

 Overlay in Google Earth for graphical representation. 

 

  



Preliminary Hydrology Study | Taelor Solar Project  February 8, 2022 

 11  |  Confidential and Proprietary. TBPLS Firm #10074302 

 

10.0   References Cited 
National Engineering Handbook, Part 630 Hydrology. Chapter 9 Hydrologic Soil-Cover 

 Complexes. USDA. NRCS. 210-VI-NEH, July 2004  

The National Map, 2-ft DEM, Elevation data, Accessed February 2022, from 

 https://viewer.nationalmap.gov/basic/ 

Web soil survey. Retrieved February 2022, from 

 https://websoilsurvey.sc.egov.usda.gov/App/WebSoilSurvey.aspx 

NOAA Atlas 14 Point Precipitation Frequency Estimates. Retrieved February 2022 from 

 https://hdsc.nws.noaa.gov/hdsc/pfds/ 

USGS. USGS water resources: About USGS water resources. Retrieved February 2022, from 

 https://water.usgs.gov/GIS/huc.html 

USDA 2013 Crop Data Layer, Landcover data, retrieved February 2022, from 

 https://www.nass.usda.gov/Research_and_Science/Cropland/SARS1a.php 

FEMA Flood Insurance Rate Maps, retrieved February 2022, from 

 https://msc.fema.gov/portal/advanceSearch#searchresultsanchor 

USGS Streamstats Flow Rates, retrieved February 2022, from

 https://www.usgs.gov/mission-areas/water-resources/science/streamstats-streamflow-

 statistics-and-spatial-analysis-tools?qt-science_center_objects=0#qt-

 science_center_objects 

Morgan County Zoning Regulations, retrieved February 2022, from 

 https://morgancounty.colorado.gov/sites/morgancounty/files/Zoning-Regulations-

 21819.pdf 

Mile High Flood District. Criteria Manual, retrieved February 2022, from 

 https://mhfd.org/resources/criteria-manual-volume-3/ 

Weld County Engineering and Construction Criteria, retrieved February 2022, from 

 https://www.weldgov.com/files/sharedassets/public/departments/public-

 works/documents/evans-folder/2020-weld-county-engineering-and-construction-

 criteria-final-version-2021-03-17.pdf  



 

 

   

Exhibits 



































 

 

   

Appendix A  
NOAA Atlas 14 Precipitation Data 



1/26/22, 1:06 PM Precipitation Frequency Data Server

https://hdsc.nws.noaa.gov/hdsc/pfds/pfds_printpage.html?lat=40.1686&lon=-104.1629&data=depth&units=english&series=pds 1/4

NOAA Atlas 14, Volume 8, Version 2 
Location name: Wiggins, Colorado, USA* 
Latitude: 40.1686°, Longitude: -104.1629° 

Elevation: 4639.05 ft**
* source: ESRI Maps 

** source: USGS

POINT PRECIPITATION FREQUENCY ESTIMATES

Sanja Perica, Deborah Martin, Sandra Pavlovic, Ishani Roy, Michael St. Laurent, Carl Trypaluk, Dale
Unruh, Michael Yekta, Geoffery Bonnin

NOAA, National Weather Service, Silver Spring, Maryland

PF_tabular | PF_graphical | Maps_&_aerials

PF tabular
PDS-based point precipitation frequency estimates with 90% confidence intervals (in inches)1

Duration
Average recurrence interval (years)

1 2 5 10 25 50 100 200 500 1000

5-min 0.257
(0.206‑0.325)

0.311
(0.248‑0.393)

0.410
(0.326‑0.519)

0.503
(0.398‑0.640)

0.648
(0.503‑0.868)

0.773
(0.582‑1.04)

0.909
(0.661‑1.25)

1.06
(0.738‑1.49)

1.27
(0.854‑1.83)

1.45
(0.942‑2.09)

10-min 0.377
(0.301‑0.476)

0.455
(0.363‑0.575)

0.600
(0.477‑0.760)

0.736
(0.582‑0.937)

0.948
(0.736‑1.27)

1.13
(0.853‑1.53)

1.33
(0.968‑1.83)

1.55
(1.08‑2.18)

1.87
(1.25‑2.68)

2.13
(1.38‑3.06)

15-min 0.460
(0.367‑0.581)

0.555
(0.443‑0.702)

0.731
(0.582‑0.927)

0.898
(0.710‑1.14)

1.16
(0.898‑1.55)

1.38
(1.04‑1.86)

1.62
(1.18‑2.23)

1.89
(1.32‑2.65)

2.28
(1.53‑3.27)

2.59
(1.68‑3.73)

30-min 0.612
(0.489‑0.774)

0.738
(0.589‑0.933)

0.971
(0.772‑1.23)

1.19
(0.942‑1.52)

1.53
(1.19‑2.05)

1.83
(1.38‑2.46)

2.15
(1.56‑2.95)

2.50
(1.75‑3.51)

3.01
(2.02‑4.32)

3.43
(2.23‑4.93)

60-min 0.754
(0.602‑0.953)

0.904
(0.722‑1.14)

1.19
(0.945‑1.51)

1.46
(1.16‑1.86)

1.89
(1.47‑2.54)

2.26
(1.71‑3.05)

2.67
(1.95‑3.68)

3.12
(2.18‑4.39)

3.78
(2.54‑5.43)

4.32
(2.81‑6.22)

2-hr 0.896
(0.721‑1.12)

1.07
(0.861‑1.34)

1.41
(1.13‑1.77)

1.73
(1.38‑2.18)

2.25
(1.76‑3.00)

2.70
(2.05‑3.61)

3.19
(2.35‑4.36)

3.75
(2.64‑5.23)

4.55
(3.08‑6.49)

5.22
(3.42‑7.44)

3-hr 0.977
(0.790‑1.22)

1.16
(0.939‑1.45)

1.52
(1.23‑1.90)

1.87
(1.50‑2.35)

2.43
(1.92‑3.24)

2.93
(2.24‑3.91)

3.48
(2.57‑4.73)

4.09
(2.89‑5.68)

4.98
(3.39‑7.06)

5.72
(3.76‑8.11)

6-hr 1.13
(0.920‑1.40)

1.34
(1.09‑1.66)

1.75
(1.42‑2.17)

2.14
(1.72‑2.66)

2.76
(2.19‑3.62)

3.30
(2.54‑4.35)

3.89
(2.90‑5.24)

4.55
(3.25‑6.26)

5.51
(3.78‑7.74)

6.30
(4.18‑8.86)

12-hr 1.31
(1.08‑1.61)

1.57
(1.28‑1.92)

2.03
(1.66‑2.49)

2.45
(1.99‑3.02)

3.09
(2.46‑3.99)

3.63
(2.81‑4.72)

4.22
(3.15‑5.59)

4.85
(3.48‑6.58)

5.76
(3.98‑7.99)

6.50
(4.35‑9.05)

24-hr 1.56
(1.29‑1.89)

1.82
(1.51‑2.21)

2.30
(1.90‑2.80)

2.74
(2.24‑3.34)

3.40
(2.72‑4.33)

3.95
(3.08‑5.08)

4.54
(3.43‑5.96)

5.19
(3.76‑6.96)

6.10
(4.25‑8.37)

6.84
(4.62‑9.44)

2-day 1.79
(1.50‑2.16)

2.10
(1.75‑2.52)

2.62
(2.18‑3.16)

3.09
(2.55‑3.74)

3.77
(3.03‑4.74)

4.33
(3.40‑5.49)

4.92
(3.74‑6.37)

5.55
(4.05‑7.36)

6.43
(4.51‑8.72)

7.14
(4.87‑9.76)

3-day 1.96
(1.64‑2.35)

2.27
(1.90‑2.71)

2.79
(2.33‑3.35)

3.26
(2.70‑3.92)

3.95
(3.19‑4.93)

4.51
(3.56‑5.69)

5.11
(3.90‑6.58)

5.75
(4.21‑7.57)

6.63
(4.68‑8.95)

7.34
(5.04‑9.99)

4-day 2.09
(1.76‑2.49)

2.40
(2.01‑2.86)

2.93
(2.45‑3.50)

3.40
(2.83‑4.07)

4.09
(3.32‑5.08)

4.66
(3.68‑5.84)

5.25
(4.02‑6.73)

5.89
(4.33‑7.72)

6.78
(4.80‑9.10)

7.48
(5.15‑10.1)

7-day 2.38
(2.01‑2.81)

2.72
(2.30‑3.22)

3.31
(2.78‑3.92)

3.81
(3.19‑4.53)

4.52
(3.67‑5.54)

5.09
(4.04‑6.31)

5.67
(4.36‑7.19)

6.28
(4.64‑8.15)

7.11
(5.07‑9.45)

7.76
(5.39‑10.4)

10-day 2.63
(2.23‑3.09)

3.01
(2.56‑3.55)

3.65
(3.09‑4.31)

4.19
(3.52‑4.96)

4.93
(4.01‑5.99)

5.51
(4.39‑6.78)

6.09
(4.70‑7.66)

6.69
(4.96‑8.61)

7.49
(5.35‑9.88)

8.09
(5.64‑10.8)

20-day 3.41
(2.92‑3.97)

3.89
(3.32‑4.53)

4.66
(3.97‑5.44)

5.29
(4.48‑6.20)

6.13
(5.02‑7.35)

6.77
(5.43‑8.23)

7.40
(5.75‑9.18)

8.02
(5.99‑10.2)

8.83
(6.36‑11.5)

9.42
(6.63‑12.5)

30-day 4.06
(3.49‑4.70)

4.61
(3.96‑5.35)

5.50
(4.71‑6.39)

6.21
(5.29‑7.25)

7.16
(5.89‑8.52)

7.86
(6.33‑9.48)

8.54
(6.67‑10.5)

9.21
(6.91‑11.6)

10.0
(7.27‑13.0)

10.7
(7.54‑14.0)

45-day 4.86
(4.20‑5.60)

5.53
(4.77‑6.37)

6.58
(5.66‑7.60)

7.41
(6.34‑8.59)

8.49
(7.00‑10.0)

9.28
(7.50‑11.1)

10.0
(7.85‑12.3)

10.7
(8.09‑13.4)

11.6
(8.44‑14.9)

12.2
(8.70‑16.0)

60-day 5.52
(4.79‑6.34)

6.30
(5.45‑7.23)

7.50
(6.47‑8.62)

8.43
(7.25‑9.74)

9.64
(7.97‑11.3)

10.5
(8.51‑12.5)

11.3
(8.88‑13.7)

12.0
(9.11‑15.0)

12.9
(9.44‑16.5)

13.6
(9.69‑17.7)

1 Precipitation frequency (PF) estimates in this table are based on frequency analysis of partial duration series (PDS).
Numbers in parenthesis are PF estimates at lower and upper bounds of the 90% confidence interval. The probability that precipitation frequency estimates
(for a given duration and average recurrence interval) will be greater than the upper bound (or less than the lower bound) is 5%. Estimates at upper
bounds are not checked against probable maximum precipitation (PMP) estimates and may be higher than currently valid PMP values.
Please refer to NOAA Atlas 14 document for more information.

Back to Top

PF graphical



1/26/22, 1:06 PM Precipitation Frequency Data Server

https://hdsc.nws.noaa.gov/hdsc/pfds/pfds_printpage.html?lat=40.1686&lon=-104.1629&data=depth&units=english&series=pds 2/4

Back to Top

Maps & aerials

Small scale terrain



1/26/22, 1:06 PM Precipitation Frequency Data Server

https://hdsc.nws.noaa.gov/hdsc/pfds/pfds_printpage.html?lat=40.1686&lon=-104.1629&data=depth&units=english&series=pds 3/4

Large scale terrain

Large scale map

Large scale aerial

+
–

3km

2mi

+
–

100km

60mi

+
–

100km

60mi



1/26/22, 1:06 PM Precipitation Frequency Data Server

https://hdsc.nws.noaa.gov/hdsc/pfds/pfds_printpage.html?lat=40.1686&lon=-104.1629&data=depth&units=english&series=pds 4/4

 
Back to Top

 
 
 

US Department of Commerce 
National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration 

National Weather Service 
National Water Center 

1325 East West Highway 
Silver Spring, MD 20910 

Questions?: HDSC.Questions@noaa.gov 
 

Disclaimer 

+
–

100km

60mi



 

 

 

  

 

Appendix B  
Curve Number Table 





 

 

 

  

 

Appendix C  
FEMA Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) 



Taelor Solar 
Phases 1 & 2 
Boundary



TPGlaza
Callout
Taelor Solar Phases 1 & 2 Boundary



 

 

 

  

 

Appendix D  
USGS StreamStats Reports 



1/26/22, 11:10 AM StreamStats

https://streamstats.usgs.gov/ss/ 1/3

Jack Rabbit Creek StreamStats Report

Basin Characteristics

Parameter
Code Parameter Description Value Unit

DRNAREA Area that drains to a point on a stream 8.33 square
miles

I6H100Y 6-hour precipitation that is expected to occur on average
once in 100 years

3.89 inches

STATSCLAY Percentage of clay soils from STATSGO 22.01 percent

OUTLETELEV Elevation of the stream outlet in feet above NAVD88 4733 feet

Region ID: CO
Workspace ID: CO20220126180819041000
Clicked Point (Latitude, Longitude): 40.11290, -104.23792
Time: 2022-01-26 11:08:42 -0700



1/26/22, 11:10 AM StreamStats

https://streamstats.usgs.gov/ss/ 2/3

Peak-Flow Statistics Parameters  [Foothills Region Peak Flow 2016 5099]

Parameter
Code Parameter Name Value Units

Min
Limit

Max
Limit

DRNAREA Drainage Area 8.33 square
miles

0.6 2850

I6H100Y 6 Hour 100 Year Precipitation 3.89 inches 2.38 4.89

STATSCLAY STATSGO Percentage of Clay
Soils

22.01 percent 9.87 37.5

OUTLETELEV Elevation of Gage 4733 feet 4290 8270

Peak-Flow Statistics Flow Report  [Foothills Region Peak Flow 2016 5099]

PIl: Prediction Interval-Lower, PIu: Prediction Interval-Upper, ASEp: Average Standard Error of
Prediction, SE: Standard Error (other -- see report)

Statistic Value Unit ASEp

50-percent AEP flood 192 ft^3/s 117

20-percent AEP flood 644 ft^3/s 87

10-percent AEP flood 1180 ft^3/s 80

4-percent AEP flood 2200 ft^3/s 80

2-percent AEP flood 3250 ft^3/s 83

1-percent AEP flood 4660 ft^3/s 88

0.5-percent AEP flood 6390 ft^3/s 94

0.2-percent AEP flood 9290 ft^3/s 104

Peak-Flow Statistics Citations

Kohn, M.S., Stevens, M.R., Harden, T.M., Godaire, J.E., Klinger, R.E., and Mommandi,
A.,2016, Paleoflood investigations to improve peak-streamflow regional-regression
equations for natural streamflow in eastern Colorado, 2015: U.S. Geological Survey
Scientific Investigations Report 2016–5099, 58 p. (http://dx.doi.org/10.3133/sir20165099)

USGS Data Disclaimer: Unless otherwise stated, all data, metadata and related materials are considered to satisfy the quality

standards relative to the purpose for which the data were collected. Although these data and associated metadata have

been reviewed for accuracy and completeness and approved for release by the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS), no warranty

expressed or implied is made regarding the display or utility of the data for other purposes, nor on all computer systems,

nor shall the act of distribution constitute any such warranty.



1/26/22, 11:10 AM StreamStats

https://streamstats.usgs.gov/ss/ 3/3

USGS Software Disclaimer: This software has been approved for release by the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS). Although the

software has been subjected to rigorous review, the USGS reserves the right to update the software as needed pursuant to

further analysis and review. No warranty, expressed or implied, is made by the USGS or the U.S. Government as to the

functionality of the software and related material nor shall the fact of release constitute any such warranty. Furthermore,

the software is released on condition that neither the USGS nor the U.S. Government shall be held liable for any damages

resulting from its authorized or unauthorized use.

USGS Product Names Disclaimer: Any use of trade, firm, or product names is for descriptive purposes only and does not

imply endorsement by the U.S. Government.

Application Version: 4.6.2 

StreamStats Services Version: 1.2.22 

NSS Services Version: 2.1.2



1/26/22, 11:35 AM StreamStats

https://streamstats.usgs.gov/ss/ 1/3

Kiowa Creek StreamStats Report

Basin Characteristics

Parameter
Code Parameter Description Value Unit

DRNAREA Area that drains to a point on a stream 585 square
miles

I6H100Y 6-hour precipitation that is expected to occur on average
once in 100 years

3.82 inches

STATSCLAY Percentage of clay soils from STATSGO 17.97 percent

OUTLETELEV Elevation of the stream outlet in feet above NAVD88 4734 feet

Region ID: CO
Workspace ID: CO20220126181728352000
Clicked Point (Latitude, Longitude): 40.11266, -104.23086
Time: 2022-01-26 11:17:52 -0700



1/26/22, 11:35 AM StreamStats

https://streamstats.usgs.gov/ss/ 2/3

Peak-Flow Statistics Parameters  [Foothills Region Peak Flow 2016 5099]

Parameter
Code Parameter Name Value Units

Min
Limit

Max
Limit

DRNAREA Drainage Area 585 square
miles

0.6 2850

I6H100Y 6 Hour 100 Year Precipitation 3.82 inches 2.38 4.89

STATSCLAY STATSGO Percentage of Clay
Soils

17.97 percent 9.87 37.5

OUTLETELEV Elevation of Gage 4734 feet 4290 8270

Peak-Flow Statistics Flow Report  [Foothills Region Peak Flow 2016 5099]

PIl: Prediction Interval-Lower, PIu: Prediction Interval-Upper, ASEp: Average Standard Error of
Prediction, SE: Standard Error (other -- see report)

Statistic Value Unit ASEp

50-percent AEP flood 2260 ft^3/s 117

20-percent AEP flood 6410 ft^3/s 87

10-percent AEP flood 11100 ft^3/s 80

4-percent AEP flood 20000 ft^3/s 80

2-percent AEP flood 28900 ft^3/s 83

1-percent AEP flood 40700 ft^3/s 88

0.5-percent AEP flood 55000 ft^3/s 94

0.2-percent AEP flood 78100 ft^3/s 104

Peak-Flow Statistics Citations

Kohn, M.S., Stevens, M.R., Harden, T.M., Godaire, J.E., Klinger, R.E., and Mommandi,
A.,2016, Paleoflood investigations to improve peak-streamflow regional-regression
equations for natural streamflow in eastern Colorado, 2015: U.S. Geological Survey
Scientific Investigations Report 2016–5099, 58 p. (http://dx.doi.org/10.3133/sir20165099)

USGS Data Disclaimer: Unless otherwise stated, all data, metadata and related materials are considered to satisfy the quality

standards relative to the purpose for which the data were collected. Although these data and associated metadata have

been reviewed for accuracy and completeness and approved for release by the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS), no warranty

expressed or implied is made regarding the display or utility of the data for other purposes, nor on all computer systems,

nor shall the act of distribution constitute any such warranty.



1/26/22, 11:35 AM StreamStats

https://streamstats.usgs.gov/ss/ 3/3

USGS Software Disclaimer: This software has been approved for release by the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS). Although the

software has been subjected to rigorous review, the USGS reserves the right to update the software as needed pursuant to

further analysis and review. No warranty, expressed or implied, is made by the USGS or the U.S. Government as to the

functionality of the software and related material nor shall the fact of release constitute any such warranty. Furthermore,

the software is released on condition that neither the USGS nor the U.S. Government shall be held liable for any damages

resulting from its authorized or unauthorized use.

USGS Product Names Disclaimer: Any use of trade, firm, or product names is for descriptive purposes only and does not

imply endorsement by the U.S. Government.

Application Version: 4.6.2 

StreamStats Services Version: 1.2.22 

NSS Services Version: 2.1.2



1/26/22, 11:52 AM StreamStats

https://streamstats.usgs.gov/ss/ 1/3

Rock Creek StreamStats Report

Basin Characteristics

Parameter
Code Parameter Description Value Unit

DRNAREA Area that drains to a point on a stream 35.9 square
miles

I6H100Y 6-hour precipitation that is expected to occur on average
once in 100 years

3.9 inches

STATSCLAY Percentage of clay soils from STATSGO 24.18 percent

OUTLETELEV Elevation of the stream outlet in feet above NAVD88 4667 feet

Region ID: CO
Workspace ID: CO20220126184549617000
Clicked Point (Latitude, Longitude): 40.11540, -104.13307
Time: 2022-01-26 11:46:10 -0700



1/26/22, 11:52 AM StreamStats

https://streamstats.usgs.gov/ss/ 2/3

Peak-Flow Statistics Parameters  [Foothills Region Peak Flow 2016 5099]

Parameter
Code Parameter Name Value Units

Min
Limit

Max
Limit

DRNAREA Drainage Area 35.9 square
miles

0.6 2850

I6H100Y 6 Hour 100 Year Precipitation 3.9 inches 2.38 4.89

STATSCLAY STATSGO Percentage of Clay
Soils

24.18 percent 9.87 37.5

OUTLETELEV Elevation of Gage 4667 feet 4290 8270

Peak-Flow Statistics Flow Report  [Foothills Region Peak Flow 2016 5099]

PIl: Prediction Interval-Lower, PIu: Prediction Interval-Upper, ASEp: Average Standard Error of
Prediction, SE: Standard Error (other -- see report)

Statistic Value Unit ASEp

50-percent AEP flood 540 ft^3/s 117

20-percent AEP flood 1760 ft^3/s 87

10-percent AEP flood 3210 ft^3/s 80

4-percent AEP flood 5960 ft^3/s 80

2-percent AEP flood 8780 ft^3/s 83

1-percent AEP flood 12500 ft^3/s 88

0.5-percent AEP flood 17200 ft^3/s 94

0.2-percent AEP flood 24900 ft^3/s 104

Peak-Flow Statistics Citations

Kohn, M.S., Stevens, M.R., Harden, T.M., Godaire, J.E., Klinger, R.E., and Mommandi,
A.,2016, Paleoflood investigations to improve peak-streamflow regional-regression
equations for natural streamflow in eastern Colorado, 2015: U.S. Geological Survey
Scientific Investigations Report 2016–5099, 58 p. (http://dx.doi.org/10.3133/sir20165099)

USGS Data Disclaimer: Unless otherwise stated, all data, metadata and related materials are considered to satisfy the quality

standards relative to the purpose for which the data were collected. Although these data and associated metadata have

been reviewed for accuracy and completeness and approved for release by the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS), no warranty

expressed or implied is made regarding the display or utility of the data for other purposes, nor on all computer systems,

nor shall the act of distribution constitute any such warranty.



1/26/22, 11:52 AM StreamStats

https://streamstats.usgs.gov/ss/ 3/3

USGS Software Disclaimer: This software has been approved for release by the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS). Although the

software has been subjected to rigorous review, the USGS reserves the right to update the software as needed pursuant to

further analysis and review. No warranty, expressed or implied, is made by the USGS or the U.S. Government as to the

functionality of the software and related material nor shall the fact of release constitute any such warranty. Furthermore,

the software is released on condition that neither the USGS nor the U.S. Government shall be held liable for any damages

resulting from its authorized or unauthorized use.

USGS Product Names Disclaimer: Any use of trade, firm, or product names is for descriptive purposes only and does not

imply endorsement by the U.S. Government.

Application Version: 4.6.2 

StreamStats Services Version: 1.2.22 

NSS Services Version: 2.1.2



1/26/22, 11:58 AM StreamStats

https://streamstats.usgs.gov/ss/ 1/3

Eastern Tributary StreamStats Report

Basin Characteristics

Parameter
Code Parameter Description Value Unit

DRNAREA Area that drains to a point on a stream 8.2 square
miles

I6H100Y 6-hour precipitation that is expected to occur on average
once in 100 years

3.9 inches

STATSCLAY Percentage of clay soils from STATSGO 17.27 percent

OUTLETELEV Elevation of the stream outlet in feet above NAVD88 4630 feet

Region ID: CO
Workspace ID: CO20220126185734682000
Clicked Point (Latitude, Longitude): 40.13799, -104.09089
Time: 2022-01-26 11:58:02 -0700



1/26/22, 11:58 AM StreamStats

https://streamstats.usgs.gov/ss/ 2/3

Peak-Flow Statistics Parameters  [Foothills Region Peak Flow 2016 5099]

Parameter
Code Parameter Name Value Units

Min
Limit

Max
Limit

DRNAREA Drainage Area 8.2 square
miles

0.6 2850

I6H100Y 6 Hour 100 Year Precipitation 3.9 inches 2.38 4.89

STATSCLAY STATSGO Percentage of Clay
Soils

17.27 percent 9.87 37.5

OUTLETELEV Elevation of Gage 4630 feet 4290 8270

Peak-Flow Statistics Flow Report  [Foothills Region Peak Flow 2016 5099]

PIl: Prediction Interval-Lower, PIu: Prediction Interval-Upper, ASEp: Average Standard Error of
Prediction, SE: Standard Error (other -- see report)

Statistic Value Unit ASEp

50-percent AEP flood 165 ft^3/s 117

20-percent AEP flood 548 ft^3/s 87

10-percent AEP flood 1000 ft^3/s 80

4-percent AEP flood 1860 ft^3/s 80

2-percent AEP flood 2750 ft^3/s 83

1-percent AEP flood 3940 ft^3/s 88

0.5-percent AEP flood 5400 ft^3/s 94

0.2-percent AEP flood 7850 ft^3/s 104

Peak-Flow Statistics Citations

Kohn, M.S., Stevens, M.R., Harden, T.M., Godaire, J.E., Klinger, R.E., and Mommandi,
A.,2016, Paleoflood investigations to improve peak-streamflow regional-regression
equations for natural streamflow in eastern Colorado, 2015: U.S. Geological Survey
Scientific Investigations Report 2016–5099, 58 p. (http://dx.doi.org/10.3133/sir20165099)

USGS Data Disclaimer: Unless otherwise stated, all data, metadata and related materials are considered to satisfy the quality

standards relative to the purpose for which the data were collected. Although these data and associated metadata have

been reviewed for accuracy and completeness and approved for release by the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS), no warranty

expressed or implied is made regarding the display or utility of the data for other purposes, nor on all computer systems,

nor shall the act of distribution constitute any such warranty.



1/26/22, 11:58 AM StreamStats

https://streamstats.usgs.gov/ss/ 3/3

USGS Software Disclaimer: This software has been approved for release by the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS). Although the

software has been subjected to rigorous review, the USGS reserves the right to update the software as needed pursuant to

further analysis and review. No warranty, expressed or implied, is made by the USGS or the U.S. Government as to the

functionality of the software and related material nor shall the fact of release constitute any such warranty. Furthermore,

the software is released on condition that neither the USGS nor the U.S. Government shall be held liable for any damages

resulting from its authorized or unauthorized use.

USGS Product Names Disclaimer: Any use of trade, firm, or product names is for descriptive purposes only and does not

imply endorsement by the U.S. Government.

Application Version: 4.6.2 

StreamStats Services Version: 1.2.22 

NSS Services Version: 2.1.2













00043789.DOCX v1  

 

OPERATING AGREEMENT 

OF 

TAELOR SOLAR HOLDCO, LLC 

a Delaware limited liability company 

DocuSign Envelope ID: BAD973DD-4C5B-430C-B9D8-E7D7B7C7BCE7



00043789.DOCX v1  

OPERATING AGREEMENT OF 

TAELOR SOLAR HOLDCO, LLC 

A DELAWARE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY 

THIS OPERATING AGREEMENT is made as of the 25th day of January 1,2023 (the 

“Effective Date”) by Balanced Rock Power Development, LLC, a Delaware limited liability 

company (“Member” and “Manager”), and Taelor Solar Holdco, LLC, a Delaware limited liability 

company (the “Company”). 

Article 1  

DEFINITIONS 

The following terms used in this Operating Agreement shall have the meanings set forth 

below (unless otherwise expressly provided herein): 

(a) “Act” shall mean the version of the Limited Liability Company Act adopted 

by the State of the Delaware. 

(b) “Entity” shall mean any general partnership, limited partnership, limited 

liability company, corporation, joint venture, trust, estate, business trust, cooperative or 

association. 

(c) “Operating Agreement” shall mean this Amended and Restated Operating 

Agreement as originally executed and as amended from time to time. 

(d) “Person” shall mean any individual or Entity, and the heirs, executors, 

administrators, legal representatives, successors, and assigns of such Person where the 

context so admits. 

Article 2  

FORMATION OF COMPANY 

Formation. On January 23rd, 2023, the Company was organized as a Delaware limited liability 

company under and pursuant to the Act. 

Name.  The name of the Company is Taelor Solar Holdco, LLC, a Delaware limited liability 

company. 

Principal Place of Business.  The principal place of business of the Company within the State of 

Utah shall be at 310 E. 100 S., Moab, Utah 84532. The Company may locate its places of business 

and registered office at any other place or places as the Manager may from time to time deem 

advisable. 

                                                 
1
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: BAD973DD-4C5B-430C-B9D8-E7D7B7C7BCE7



00043789.DOCX v1  

Registered Office and Registered Agent.  The Company’s registered office shall be at the office 

of its registered agent at 16192 Coastal Hwy, Lewes, DE 19958, United States of America. 

Certificate of Formation.  The Certificate of Formation is hereby adopted and incorporated by 

reference in this Operating Agreement. In the event of any inconsistency between the Certificate 

of Formation and this Operating Agreement, the terms of the Certificate of Formation shall govern. 

Term.  The term of the Company shall be perpetual, unless the Company is earlier dissolved in 

accordance with either the provisions of this Operating Agreement or the Act. 

Opt-in to UCC Article 8; Certificates Representing Ownership of Membership Interest.  All 

membership interest in the Company shall be securities governed by Article 8 of the Uniform 

Commercial Code as in effect from time to time in the State of Delaware. Such membership interest 

shall be evidenced by certificates in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B. Such certificates 

representing ownership of membership interest in the Company may be executed and delivered by 

the Chief Executive Officer or any other Officer of the Company on behalf of the Company, shall 

be in the name of the Company, shall set forth the name of the Member and the number, class and 

series, if any, of any membership interest owned or held by each such Member and shall be a 

security governed by Article 8 of the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect from time to time the 

State of Delaware and, to be consecutively numbered or otherwise identified. This provision shall 

not be amended, and any purported amendment to this provision shall be null and void. 

Legend.  In addition to the legend required by Section 2.7, until (a) the securities representing 

ownership of membership interest in the Company are effectively registered under the Securities 

Act of 1993, as amended, or (b) the holder of such securities delivers to the Company a written 

opinion of counsel of such holder to the effect that such legend is no longer necessary under the 

Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the Company will cause each certificate representing its 

securities to be stamped or otherwise imprinted with the following legend: 

THE MEMBERSHIP INTEREST REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE HAS NOT BEEN 

REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, OR UNDER THE 

SECURITIES LAW OF ANY STATE. SUCH MEMBERSHIP INTEREST MAY NOT BE SOLD 

OR TRANSFERRED UNLESS SUBSEQUENTLY REGISTERED OR UNLESS AN 

EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION IS AVAILABLE. 

Article 3  

BUSINESSOFTHECOMPANY 

Permitted Businesses.  The Company is hereby authorized to undertake any and all lawful acts or 

activities for which limited liability companies may be formed under the Act. 

Article 4  

BOOKS, RECORDS, AND ACCOUNTING 

Books and Records.  The Manager shall maintain books of account that accurately record all items 

of income and expenditure relating to the business of the Company and that accurately and 

DocuSign Envelope ID: BAD973DD-4C5B-430C-B9D8-E7D7B7C7BCE7



00043789.DOCX v1  

completely disclose the results of the operations of the Company. Such books of account shall be 

maintained on the method of accounting selected by the Manager. 

Article 5  

MANAGEMENT 

5.1 Management.  The business and affairs of the Company shall be managed by the 

Manager, including the authority to direct the day-to-day operations of the Company, including 

operations involving the sale of power, concurrently with any Officers of the Company who may 

then be appointed, the authority to direct such activities being hereby vested in such Officers of the 

Company. 

Article 6  

OFFICERS 

Number.  The Officers of the Company shall be a Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating 

Officer, Chief Commercial Officer, Chief Financial Officer and a Secretary (each an “Officer” and 

collectively “Officers”) each as appointed by the Manager.  Any two or more offices may be held 

by the same person.  The initial officers of the Company shall be as follows: 

Chief Executive Officer    John Knight 

Chief Operating Officer and Secretary Eric Hafner 

Chief Commercial Officer   Dana Diller 

Chief Financial Officer   Grant Keefe 

Election and Term of Office.  The Officers of the Company shall be elected or appointed by the 

Manager. Vacancies may be filled or new offices created and filled by the Manager. Each Officer 

shall hold office until his successor shall have been duly elected or appointed and shall have 

qualified or until his death or until he shall resign or shall have been removed in the manner 

hereinafter provided. Election of an Officer shall not of itself create contract rights. 

Vacancies.  A vacancy in any office because of death, resignation, removal, disqualification or 

otherwise, may be filled by the Manager for the unexpired portion of the term. 

Removal.  Any Officer elected or appointed by the Manager may be removed by the Manager 

whenever in its judgment the best interests of the Company would be served thereby, but such 

removal shall be without prejudice to the contract rights, if any, of the person so removed. 

Chief Executive Officer.  The Chief Executive Officer shall be the principal executive officer of 

the Company. Subject to the direction and control of the Manager, he or she shall be in charge of 

the business of the Company; he or she shall see that the resolutions and directions of the Manager 

are carried into effect except in those instances in which that responsibility is specifically assigned 

to some other person by the Manager; and, in general, he or she shall discharge all duties as may 

be prescribed by the Manager from time to time. Except in those instances in which the authority 

to execute is expressly delegated to another officer or agent of the Company or a different mode of 

execution is expressly prescribed by the Manager or this Operating Agreement, he or she may 

DocuSign Envelope ID: BAD973DD-4C5B-430C-B9D8-E7D7B7C7BCE7



00043789.DOCX v1  

execute for the Company any contracts, deeds, mortgages, bonds, or other instruments which the 

Manager has authorized to be executed, and he or she may accomplish such execution either 

individually or with any other officer thereunto authorized by the Manager according to the 

requirements of the form of the instrument. He or she may vote all securities which the Company 

is entitled to vote except as to the extent such authority shall be vested in a different officer or agent 

of the Company by the Manager. 

Other Specified Officers.  The Chief Operating Officer, Chief Commercial Officer, Chief 

Financial Officer shall assist the Chief Executive Officer in the discharge of his or her duties as he 

or she may direct, and shall perform such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to him 

or her by the Chief Executive Officer or by the Manager. In the absence of the Chief Executive 

Officer or in the event of his or her inability or refusal to act, the Chief Operating Officer shall 

perform the duties of the Chief Executive Officer, and when so acting, shall have all the powers of 

and be subject to all the restrictions upon the Chief Executive Officer. Except in those instances in 

which the authority to execute is expressly delegated to another Officer or agent of the Company 

or a different mode of execution is expressly prescribed by the Manager or this Operating 

Agreement, and subject to the limitations contained in any delegation of authority received from 

the Manager, the Chief Operating Officer, Chief Commercial Officer, Chief Financial Officer may 

execute for the Company any contracts, deeds, mortgages, bonds or other instruments, and he or 

she may accomplish such execution either individually or with any other Officer according to the 

requirements of the form of the instrument. 

Secretary.  The Chief Operating Officer will also serve as the Company’s Secretary.  The Secretary 

shall keep a register of the post office address of each Member which shall be furnished to the 

Secretary by such Member. The Secretary shall have the authority to certify this Agreement, 

resolutions of the Manager, and other documents of the Company as true and correct copies thereof, 

and in general to perform all duties incident of the office of the Secretary and such other duties as 

from time to time may be assigned to him or her by the Chief Executive Officer or by the Manager. 

Salaries.  The salaries and other compensation of the Officers shall be fixed from time to time by 

the Manager. 

6.1 Indemnification of Officers. 

(a) To the greatest extent allowed by the Act, the Officers shall not be liable to 

the Member because any taxing authorities disallow or adjust income, deduction or credits 

in the Company tax returns. Furthermore, the Officers shall not have any liability for the 

repayment of the capital contributions of the Member. In addition, the doing of any act or 

the omission to do any act by the Officers the effect of which may cause or result in loss or 

damage to the Company, if done in good faith and otherwise in accordance with the terms 

of this Operating Agreement, shall not subject the Officers or their successors and assigns 

to any liability to the greatest extent allowed by the Act. To the greatest extent allowed by 

the Act, the Company will indemnify and hold harmless the Officers and their successors, 

delegees and assigns from any claim, loss, expense, liability, action or damage resulting 

from any such act or omission, including, without limitation, reasonable costs and expenses 

of litigation and appeal of such litigation (including reasonable fees and expenses of 

DocuSign Envelope ID: BAD973DD-4C5B-430C-B9D8-E7D7B7C7BCE7



00043789.DOCX v1  

attorneys engaged by any of the Officers in defense of such act or omission), but the Officers 

shall not be entitled to be indemnified or held harmless due to, or arising from, their fraud, 

gross negligence, bad faith or willful acts. The foregoing indemnification is limited to the 

assets of the Company, and nothing contained herein is intended to create personal liability 

for the Member. 

(b) The Company may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any Person 

who is or was an Officer, employee, or agent of the Company, or who is or was serving at 

the request of the Company as a director, manager, officer, trustee, employee, or agent of 

another limited liability company, corporation, partnership joint venture, trust, or other 

enterprise, against any liability asserted against the Person and incurred by the person in 

any capacity, or arising out of the Person’s status as such, whether or not the Company 

would have the power to indemnify the Person against the liability under the provisions of 

this Section 6.9. 

Article 7  

RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF MEMBER 

Limitation of Liability.  The Member’s liability shall be limited as set forth herein and in the Act 

and other applicable law. 

Company Debt Liability.  The Member will not personally be liable for any debts or losses of the 

Company, except as provided in the Act. 

Article 8  

DISSOLUTION AND TERMINATION 

Dissolution.  The Company shall be dissolved upon the occurrence of any of the following events 

(“Dissolution Event”): 

(a) the expiration of the term of the Company as provided in Section 2.6; 

(b) by the written resolution of the Member; 

(c) upon the death, retirement, resignation, bankruptcy, court declaration of 

incompetence with respect to, or dissolution of the Member (a “Withdrawal Event”); 

(d) entry of a decree of judicial dissolution under Section 18-802 of the Act; or 

(e) administrative dissolution under Section 18-801 of the Act. 

Distribution of Assets Upon Dissolution.  In settling accounts after dissolution, the liabilities of 

the Company shall be entitled to payment in the following order: 

(a) to creditors, including the Member if it is a creditor, in the order of priority 

as provided by law; and 

DocuSign Envelope ID: BAD973DD-4C5B-430C-B9D8-E7D7B7C7BCE7



00043789.DOCX v1  

(b) to the Member. 

Certificate of Dissolution.  When all debts, liabilities and obligations have been paid and 

discharged or adequate provisions have been made therefor and all of the remaining property and 

assets have been distributed to the Member, a certificate of dissolution shall be executed and 

verified by the Person signing the certificate, which certificate shall set forth the information 

required by the Act. 

8.4 Filing of Certificate of Dissolution. 

(a) A certificate of dissolution shall be delivered to the Delaware Secretary of 

State. 

(b) Upon the filing of the certificate of dissolution, the existence of the Company 

shall cease, except for the purpose of suits, other proceedings and appropriate action as 

provided in the Act. 

Article 9  

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

Notices.  Any notice or communication required or permitted to be given by any provision of this 

Agreement, including but not limited to any consents, shall be in writing and shall be deemed to 

have been given and received by the Person to whom directed (a) when delivered personally to 

such Person or to an officer or partner of the Person to which directed, (b) twenty- four (24) hours 

after transmitted by facsimile, evidence of transmission attached, to the facsimile number of such 

Person who has notified the Company and the Manager of its facsimile number, or (c) three (3) 

business days after being posted in the United States mails if sent by registered or certified mail, 

return receipt requested, postage and charges prepaid, or one (1) business day after deposited with 

overnight courier, return receipt requested, delivery charges prepaid, in either case addressed to the 

Person to which directed at the address of such Person as it appears in the records of the Company 

or such other address of which such Person has notified the Company and the Manager. 

Application of Delaware Law.   This Operating Agreement, and the application of interpretation 

hereof, shall be governed exclusively by its terms and by the laws of the State of Delaware, and 

specifically, the Act. 

Construction,   Whenever the singular number is used in this Operating Agreement and when 

required by the context, the same shall include the plural, and the masculine gender shall include 

the feminine and neuter genders and vice versa; 

Headings.  The headings in this Operating Agreement are inserted for convenience only and are in 

no way intended to describe, interpret, define, or limit the scope, extent or intent of this Operating 

Agreement or any provision hereof. 

Severability.  If any provision of this Operating Agreement or the application thereof to any Person 

or circumstance shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this 

Operating Agreement and the application thereof shall not be affected and shall be enforceable to 

the fullest extent permitted by law. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: BAD973DD-4C5B-430C-B9D8-E7D7B7C7BCE7



  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Operating Agreement as 

of the date first set forth above. 

TAELOR SOLAR HOLDCO, LLC BALANCED ROCK POWER 

 DEVELOPMENT, LLC  

 

its Member and Manager 

 

 

 

By:________________________________ By:________________________________ 

 John Knight, Chief Executive Officer John Knight, Chief Executive Officer 

DocuSign Envelope ID: BAD973DD-4C5B-430C-B9D8-E7D7B7C7BCE7



  

EXHIBIT A 

MEMBERS 

THIS SCHEDULE MAY BE AMENDED FROM TIME TO TIME TO REFLECT THE 

ADDITION OF NEW MEMBERS, THE ISSUANCE OF NEW MEMBERSHIP INTEREST, 

THE SALE OR EXCHANGE OF MEMBERSHIP INTEREST, OR OTHER SHIFTS OF 

MEMBERSHIP INTEREST PURSUANT TO THE OPERATING AGREEMENT OR A 

CHANGE OF ADDRESS OR FACSIMILE NUMBER OF A PERSON FOR WHICH NOTICE 

WAS GIVEN TO THE COMPANY PURSUANT TO THIS OPERATING AGREEMENT. 

Name and Address 

Telephone Number Percentage Interest 

   

Balanced Rock Power 

Development, LLC,  

310 E. 100 S., 

Moab, Utah 84532 

+1 501-387-0943 100% 

TOTALS   

 

100% 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: BAD973DD-4C5B-430C-B9D8-E7D7B7C7BCE7



  

EXHIBIT B 

 

THE MEMBERSHIP INTEREST REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE HAS NOT BEEN 

REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, OR UNDER THE 

SECURITIES LAW OF ANY STATE. SUCH MEMBERSHIP INTEREST MAY NOT BE SOLD 

OR TRANSFERRED UNLESS SUBSEQUENTLY REGISTERED OR UNLESS AN 

EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION IS AVAILABLE. THIS CERTIFICATE EVIDENCES 

AN INTEREST IN THUNDERHEAD WIND ENERGY LLC AND SHALL BE A SECURITY 

GOVERNED BY ARTICLE 8 OF THE UNIFORM COMMERCIAL CODE AS IN EFFECT 

FROM TIME TO TIME IN THE STATE OF DELAWARE AND, TO THE EXTENT 

PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, EACH OTHER APPLICABLE JURISDICTION. 

CERTIFICATE FOR MEMBERSHIP INTEREST 

IN 

TAELOR SOLAR HOLDCO, LLC 

Certificate No. 1 

The undersigned, as the Manager of Taelor Solar Holdco, LLC, a Delaware limited liability 

company (the “Company”), hereby certifies that Balanced Rock Power Development, LLC, a 

Delaware limited liability company, is the holder of 100% of the membership interest in the 

Company to the extent and as described in the Operating Agreement of the Company, effective as 

of January 25th, 2023, as amended and restated from time to time (the “Agreement”) (a copy of 

which is on file at the principal office of the Company). All capitalized terms not otherwise defined 

herein have the meanings ascribed to them in the Agreement. 

This Certificate is not negotiable or transferable except by operation of law, or as otherwise 

provided in the Agreement, and any such transfer will be valid only upon delivery of this 

Certificate, together with an assignment in a form sufficient to convey an interest in a limited 

liability company pursuant to the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act, 6 Del. Code §§18- 

101 et seq., as such may be amended and in effect from time to time, or any successor statute 

thereto, duly executed, to the transferee Member of the Company. 

Dated: January 25th, 2023 BALANCED ROCK POWER DEVELOPMENT, LLC 

 

By:  

Name: John Knight 

Title: Chief Executive Officer 

DocuSign Envelope ID: BAD973DD-4C5B-430C-B9D8-E7D7B7C7BCE7



 
 

 
 
 

Taelor Solar Projects 
Morgan County and Weld County 

 
 

Biological Survey Plan 
 
 

 
 

July 2023 
 

 

 

 

Prepared For:  

Balanced Rock Power 
 

 

Prepared By:  

Heritage Environmental Consultants 
Denver, Colorado 

 

 



Taelor Solar Project 
Biological Survey Plan 

i 

Table of Contents 
1.0 Introduction ...................................................................................................................................... 2 
2.0 Task 1: Pre-field Review .................................................................................................................. 2 

2.1 Survey Protocols ........................................................................................................................ 2 
2.2 Survey Area ............................................................................................................................... 2 
2.3 Data Collection .......................................................................................................................... 2 
2.4 Target Species ............................................................................................................................ 3 
2.5 Habitat Types ............................................................................................................................. 3 

3.0 Task 2: Field Surveys ....................................................................................................................... 4 
3.1 Greater Prairie Chicken and Plains Sharp-tailed Grouse ........................................................... 4 
3.2 Swift Fox, Prairie Dogs, and Burrowing Owl ........................................................................... 5 
3.3 Raptors and Nesting Birds ......................................................................................................... 5 

4.0 Task 3: Reporting ............................................................................................................................. 5 
5.0 References ........................................................................................................................................ 6 
 

Appendices 
Appendix A - Figures 

Appendix B - Greater Prairie Chicken and Plains Sharp-tailed Grouse Survey Protocol 

.



Taelor Solar Project 
Biological Survey Plan 

 2 

1.0 Introduction 
This survey plan outlines the methods that Heritage Environmental Consultants (Heritage) will use to 
implement pre-project surveys for biological resources for the proposed Taelor Solar Projects (Projects). 
Primary tasks in this survey plan include a pre-field review, swift fox surveys, greater prairie chicken and 
plains sharp-tailed grouse surveys, black-tailed prairie dog surveys, raptor and nesting bird surveys, and 
reporting.  

The two Projects would be located about 3 miles southwest of Wiggins, Colorado. One project is in Weld 
County and the other is in Morgan County (Appendix A; Figure 1). The Projects would be located on 
private lands.  

2.0 Task 1: Pre-field Review 
This task consists of reviewing applicable survey protocols, delineating the survey area, and identifying the 
target species that will be the subject of the field surveys. 

2.1 Survey Protocols 

Heritage has had two conversations with Colorado Parks and Wildlife (CPW) biologists regarding the 
Projects (CPW 2023a, CPW 2023b). CPW biologists helped inform the surveys that should be performed 
for the Projects. As part of developing this survey plan, the following documents were reviewed: 

• Colorado Parks and Wildlife Best Management Practices for Solar Energy Development (CPW 
2021a). 

• Greater Prairie Chicken and Plains Sharp-tailed Grouse Survey Protocol (Appendix B). 

2.2 Survey Area 

The survey area includes all of the areas proposed for development of the Projects; approximately 5,152 
acres in Morgan County, and approximately 4,437 acres in Weld County for a total of approximately 
9,589 acres. 

2.3 Data Collection 

Data for the survey area were collected from the following sources: 

• Federally Listed Species and Critical Habitat (U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service [USFWS] 2021). 

• Colorado Threatened and Endangered List (CPW 2023a). 

• Colorado’s Conservation Data Explorer (CODEX) Project Review Report (CPW 2021b). 

• Conversations with CPW biologists (CPW 2023a, 2023b). 



Taelor Solar Project 
Biological Survey Plan 

 3 

2.4 Target Species 

The following species were identified as species of concern associated with the Projects based on data 
review of the above sources. 

Species Common Name Species Scientific Name Potential to Occur 

Swift Fox Vulpes velox Moderate potential to occur – 
Suitable prairie habitat is present. 

Plains Sharp-tailed Grouse Tympanuchus phasianellus jamesii Moderate potential to occur – 
Suitable prairie habitat is present. 

Greater Prairie Chicken Tympanuchus cupido Moderate potential to occur – 
Suitable prairie habitat is present. 

Golden Eagle Aquila chrysaetos Moderate potential to occur for 
foraging purposes – Suitable open 
habitats for foraging are present, 
but no nesting habitat is present. 

Western Burrowing Owl Athene cunicularia hypugaea Moderate potential to occur for 
nesting and foraging purposes – 
Suitable open habitats for foraging 
are present, burrows may be present 
for nesting. 

Black-tailed Prairie Dog Cynomys ludovicianus Moderate potential to occur – 
Suitable prairie habitat is present. 

Preble’s Meadow Jumping Mouse Zapus hudsonius preblei Low potential to occur – Suitable 
riparian habitat is not present. 

Pronghorn Antilocapra americana Moderate potential to occur – 
Suitable open habitat is present. 

Mule Deer Odocoileus hemionus Moderate potential to occur – 
Suitable open habitat is present. 

Raptors n/a High potential to occur - suitable 
habitat is present for several raptor 
species. 

Bat Species n/a Low potential to occur – Lack of 
suitable roosting habitat. 

 

2.5 Habitat Types 

The Project lies in the High Plains ecoregion (Chapman et al. 2006). Two habitat types dominate the Weld 
County portion; rolling sand plains and agriculture. An open water habitat (3.5-acre irrigation pond) is also 
present near the eastern boundary. The sand hills are dominated by low grasses and shrubs interspersed 



Taelor Solar Project 
Biological Survey Plan 

 4 

with patches of bare sand. Center pivot and dryland agriculture is active along Kiowa Creek primarily in 
the eastern and southern portions of the Weld County site. There is no flow in the creek, nor any remnant 
riparian areas.  

The Morgan County portion is dominated by flat to rolling hills that are used for open range and agriculture. 
Vegetation is low with patches of kochia (Bassia scoparia) and rabbitbrush (Chrysothamnus nauseous). 
Bare soil is common. Center pivot and dryland agriculture is active along Rock Creek primarily in the 
northern and western portions of the Morgan County site. There is no flow in the creek, nor any remnant 
riparian areas. Habitat types are described below: 

• Flat to Rolling Plains - The Flat to Rolling Plains ecoregion is more level and less dissected 
than the adjacent Moderate Relief Plains. Soils are generally silty with a veneer of loess. 
Dryland farming is extensive, with areas of irrigated cropland scattered throughout the 
ecoregion. Winter wheat is the main cash crop, with a smaller acreage in forage crops. 

• Rolling Sand Plains - The grass-stabilized sand plains, sand dunes and sand sheets of the 
Rolling Sand Plains ecoregion are a divergence from the mostly loess-covered plains of 
adjacent ecoregions. Sandy soils, formed from eolian deposits, supported a sandsage prairie 
natural vegetation type, different from the shortgrass and midgrass prairie of other 
neighboring level IV ecoregions in the High Plains. Sand sagebrush, rabbitbrush, sand 
bluestem, prairie sandreed, and Indian ricegrass were typical plants. Land use is primarily 
rangeland, although a few scattered areas have been developed for irrigated cropland using 
deep wells. 

• Agriculture – Includes center pivot and dryland agriculture and associated roads and 
infrastructure.  

3.0 Task 2: Field Surveys 
This section describes the various surveys proposed to be conducted for the proposed Projects. To the extent 
it is biologically appropriate, these surveys will be conducted concurrently for increased efficiency. It was 
determined through conversations with CPW that surveys for bats did not need to be performed within the 
Projects. Additionally, the Projects should be designed to accommodate big game movement, but no 
surveys need to be conducted for pronghorn or mule deer. All incidental observations of these (and other) 
species will be recorded during other field survey efforts.  

3.1 Greater Prairie Chicken and Plains Sharp-tailed Grouse 

A listening route survey for greater prairie chickens and plains sharp-tailed grouse shall be conducted 
between mid-March and April 30 which corresponds with the peak of male and hen attendance on lek sites. 
Surveys shall be conducted from 30 minutes before to 1–2 hours after sunrise, which is the period when 
birds are most active on leks. Surveys should be conducted only on calm, clear mornings, as the booming 
sound produced by males can be audible for nearly 3 km. If wind speeds exceed 7 km/hr, surveys should 
be discontinued and rerun on the next available day. Surveys will be conducted from an all-terrain vehicle 
(ATV). There will be two survey routes established within suitable habitat, one within the Weld County 
site and one within the Morgan County site. For each survey route, an observer will determine the presence 
of active lek sites by listening at 1.6 km intervals along the route and recording compass directions for all 
audible leks. In order to compensate for potential “quiet” periods and the influences of time-of-day upon 
booming, routes should be run in two directions. This procedure entails beginning at mile 0, listening for 
booming for 3 minutes, and proceeding along the selected route, stopping for 3 minutes at each 3.2 km 
interval until the end of the route. The observer should then retrace the route 1.6 km, stop, listen, and 



Taelor Solar Project 
Biological Survey Plan 

 5 

continue again at 3.2 km intervals to the 1.6 km stop on the route. All routes will be 16 km in length, thus 
consisting of 11 listening stations. Once all routes have been initially surveyed for leks, the leks will be 
surveyed for the number of males, females, and total birds on each lek on subsequent days. Leks will be 
counted if three or more birds are identified on a site. 

3.2 Swift Fox, Prairie Dogs, and Burrowing Owl 

A survey will be conducted for swift fox, prairie dog colonies, and burrowing owls simultaneously. 
Transects will be established approximately 30 meters apart (depending on vegetation and visibility) to 
ensure 100 percent coverage. They will be travelled slowly by qualified biologists on ATVs or on foot. 
Surveyors will scan the transects for swift fox, prairie dog, and burrowing owl individuals, burrows, and 
potential prairie dog colonies. If burrows are discovered, they will be inspected for sign of swift fox, prairie 
dog, and burrowing owl habitation (tracks, scat, whitewash, digging, feathers). Locations, dimensions, 
number of entrances, and aspect of the burrows and notes regarding observed sign shall be recorded for 
each burrow or complex.  

3.3 Raptors and Nesting Birds 

During the swift fox, prairie dog, and burrowing owl transect survey, biologists will scan suitable habitat 
(e.g. trees, transmission poles, buildings) for raptor nests. If nests are observed, information regarding nest 
size and location, activity status, and species will be recorded.  

Additionally, a pre-construction nesting bird survey will be conducted prior to construction activities 
commencing if they will be starting during the breeding season (for most bird species in Colorado, breeding 
season occurs from April 1 – August 31).  

4.0 Task 3: Reporting 
Once the surveys are complete, two survey reports will be prepared in the standard scientific format 
(introduction, methods, results, discussion/recommendations) supported by references, maps, and 
photographs, one report for each Project. It is expected that interim reports covering the results of swift fox, 
prairie dog, burrowing owl, and raptor surveys could be developed first with the results of lek surveys 
provided next spring.   



Taelor Solar Project 
Biological Survey Plan 

6 

5.0 References 
Chapman, S.S., Griffith, G.E., Omernik, J.M., Price, A.B., Freeouf, J., and Schrupp, D.L., 2006, 

Ecoregions of Colorado (color poster with map, descriptive text, summary tables, and 
photographs): Reston, Virginia, U.S. Geological Survey (map scale 1:1,200,000). 

Colorado Parks and Wildlife (CPW). 2023a. Threatened and Endangered List. Available online at: 
https://cpw.state.co.us/learn/Pages/SOC-ThreatenedEndangeredList.aspx. Accessed July 2023. 

CPW. 2021a. Colorado Parks and Wildlife Best Management Practices for Solar Energy Development. 
May 2021. 6 pages. 

CPW. 2021b. Colorado’s Conservation Data Explorer Project Review Report for the Wiggins Solar 
Project (Taelor). 

CPW. 2023a. Personal Communication [June 6 telephone conversation with Marty Stratman, CPW 
Acting Regional Biologist. RE: Wildlife review and survey needs for the Taelor Solar Projects]. 

CPW. 2023b. Personal Communication [June 30 telephone conversation with CPW biologists; Brandon 
Marette, Marty Stratman, Wendy Figueroa, Chris Mettenbrink. RE: Wildlife review and survey 
needs for the Taelor Solar Projects]. 

U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 2021. Information for Planning and Consultation (IPaC) query for the 
Wiggins Project (Taelor). Available online at: https://ecos.fws.gov/ipac/. Accessed November 
2021.



Taelor Solar Project 
Biological Survey Plan 

Appendix A 



WELD
COUNTY

MORGAN
COUNTY

TAELOR SOLAR 1 PROJECT
Project Location



WELD
COUNTY

MORGAN
COUNTY

Figure 2

TAELOR SOLAR 1 PROJECT
Habitats

LEGEND

Agriculture  

Flat to Rolling Plains

Rolling Sand Plains

Open Water



Taelor Solar Project 
Biological Survey Plan 

Appendix B - Greater Prairie Chicken and Plains Sharp-tailed Grouse 
Survey Protocol 



Greater Prairie Chicken and Plains Sharp-tailed Grouse Survey Protocol 
 
Listening route surveys should continue to be conducted during the early spring when 

greater prairie-chickens are congregated on lek sites.  However, surveys should be conducted 
between April 1 and April 20, which corresponds with the peak of male and hen attendance 
(Miller 1984, Schroeder and Braun 1992).  Data collected after April 20 may be biased low due 
to the decline in male attendance following the time of peak hen attendance (Schroeder and 
Braun 1992).  Surveys should continue to be conducted from 30 minutes before to 1–2 hours 
after sunrise, which is the period when birds are most active on leks (Schroeder and Braun 1992).  
Surveys should be conducted only on calm, clear mornings, as the booming sound produced by 
males can be audible for nearly 3 km (Hamerstrom and Hamerstrom 1973, Miller 1984, 
Schroeder and Braun 1992).  If wind speeds exceed 7 km/hr, surveys should be discontinued and 
rerun on the next available day. 

For each survey route, an observer will determine the presence of active lek sites by 
listening at 1.6 km intervals along the route and recording compass directions for all audible 
leks.  In order to compensate for potential “quiet” periods and the influences of time-of-day upon 
booming, routes should be run in two directions.  This procedure was abandoned in the mid-
1990’s and should be reinstated.  This procedure entails beginning at mile 0, listening for 
booming for 3 minutes, and proceeding along the selected route, stopping for 3 minutes at each 
3.2 km interval until the end of the route.  The observer should then retrace the route 1.6 km, 
stop, listen, and continue again at 3.2 km intervals to the 1.6 km stop on the route.  All routes 
will be 16 km in length, thus consisting of 11 listening stations.  A 16-km route would require 
approximately 80 minutes to complete, driving at 25 miles-per-hour, stopping at the 11 stations, 
and listening for 3 minutes at each stop.  This is within the 90 minute time of peak activity 
(Miller 1984, Van Sant and Braun 1990).  This procedure will further minimize bias from 
behavioral changes associated with time-of-day (Robb and Schroeder 2005).   

Once all routes have been initially surveyed for leks, the leks will be surveyed for the 
number of males, females, and total birds on each lek on subsequent days.  Leks will be counted 
if three or more birds are identified on a site.  This is similar to the criteria used by Schroeder 
and Braun (1992).   
 









































































































































































































































 
Jenafer  Santos 
<jsantos@co.morgan.co.us> 

 
 

Fwd: Taelor Solar farm and mineral rights 
1 message 

 

From: 'kstwe@aol.com' via BCC Office 

<bccoffice@co.morgan.co.us> Date: Fri, Jan 19, 2024 at 

11:11 AM 

Subject: Taelor Solar farm and mineral rights 

To:   morgancountybcc@co.morgan.co.us  <morgancountybcc@co.morgan.co.us> 

 

Good afternoon, Commissioners, 
 

I am writing this on behalf of M & J Smits of LLC in regard to the Taelor solar project. I have shares in 
the approximate 6500 acres of mineral rights in M & J Smits LLC on the Rumsey ranch south of 
Wiggins. I have some concerns with the proposed solar farm. 
 

My husband and I met with a couple of representatives from Taelor solar about a month ago. They 
have proposed to leave "open or blank" places in the solar farm to access the minerals. This is to 
allow directional drilling. This would mainly be for oil or gas, I am assuming. But what if in the future 
there are other minerals that can be mined, and these small blank spaces are not enough to get to the 
minerals. In the future directional boring may be outlawed. Plus, explorational boring is direct bore in 
which additional space is needed, therefore the panels may be in the way. 
 
As I have stated in the meetings held with the planning and zoning committee, my dad and his 
brothers kept the mineral rights on the Rumsey Ranch as an asset to our retirement. In my mind if the 
solar panels are installed, they will be infringing on our mineral rights, and they could become 
worthless. 
 

Also, I am unclear of how the bond issue works for removal of the panels, if the company files 
bankruptcy or for some other reason does not finish the project. Who is then responsible for the 
removal, is it the I believe we should receive compensation for our mineral rights, if the project is 
installed. We have been in discussion with representatives from Taelor Solar, but it a reasonable 
resolve is not reached the project may be halted or delayed. 
 

I plan on attending the meeting on January 23rd, but I wanted to give you some food for thought.  
Thank you for your time. 
 
Sandy Ewertz 970 768-9511 
 

 

mailto:jsantos@co.morgan.co.us
mailto:kstwe@aol.com
mailto:bccoffice@co.morgan.co.us
mailto:morgancountybcc@co.morgan.co.us
mailto:morgancountybcc@co.morgan.co.us
mailto:morgancountybcc@co.morgan.co.us
mailto:morgancountybcc@co.morgan.co.us
jsantos
Rectangle

jsantos
Rectangle






















































































































































































































	Scanned BCC pkt (NOT COMPLETE)
	20240110150804685
	20240110150957085
	20240110151020044
	20240110151041118
	20240110151055088
	20240110151114138
	20240110151149231
	20240110151221501
	20240110151719161
	20240110151553901
	20240110151837649
	20240110151949395
	20240110152112248
	20240110152142289
	20240110152215375
	20240110152228612
	20240110152249113
	20240110152303650
	20240110152325761
	20240110152350267
	20240110152423496
	20240110152459769
	20240110152530744
	20240110152558993
	20240110152649121
	20240110153049171
	20240110153112579
	20240110153210027
	20240110153344307
	20240110153510794
	Appendix 11. Technical Specs for BESS.pdf
	20231113145145500
	20231113145131210

	Appendix 13. Taelor Solar Wildlife Study Plan (07-20-23)_Draft.pdf
	Taelor Solar Wildlife Study Plan (07-18-23)_Draft
	GPC & PSTG Survey Protocol
	Taelor Solar 1 - Figure 1 - Project Location.pdf
	Slide 1

	Taelor Solar 1 - Figure 2 - Habitats.pdf
	Slide 1



	2. Taelor Site Plan - Updated
	Sheets and Views
	Morgan CO Permitting Layout No FP


	Letters of support combined.pdf
	Chris Kraft
	H2 Enterprises
	20240119131737286
	20240119131859721




